BMJ Paediatrics Open

BMJ Paediatrics Open is committed to open peer review. As part of this commitment we make the peer review history of every article we publish publicly available.

When an article is published we post the peer reviewers' comments and the authors' responses online. We also post the versions of the paper that were used during peer review. These are the versions that the peer review comments apply to.

The versions of the paper that follow are the versions that were submitted during the peer review process. They are not the versions of record or the final published versions. They should not be cited or distributed as the published version of this manuscript.

BMJ Paediatrics Open is an open access journal and the full, final, typeset and author-corrected version of record of the manuscript is available on our site with no access controls, subscription charges or payper-view fees (http://bmjpaedsopen.bmj.com).

If you have any questions on BMJ Paediatrics Open's open peer review process please email info.bmjpo@bmj.com

BMJ Paediatrics Open

A protocol for a randomised controlled trial exploring human milk, nutrition, growth, and breastfeeding rates at discharge: The Hummingbird study

Journal:	BMJ Paediatrics Open
Manuscript ID	bmjpo-2022-001803
Article Type:	Protocol
Date Submitted by the Author:	29-Nov-2022
Complete List of Authors:	Chmelova, Kristina; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Unit; Newcastle University, Berrington, Janet; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Department; Newcastle University Shenker, Natalie; Imperial College London Institute of Reproductive and Developmental Biology, Department of Surgery and Cancer; Rothamsted Research Zalewski, Stefan; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Department Rankin, Judith; Newcastle University Embleton, Nick; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Department; Newcastle University
Keywords:	Neonatology

SCHOLARONE™ Manuscripts



I, the Submitting Author has the right to grant and does grant on behalf of all authors of the Work (as defined in the below author licence), an exclusive licence and/or a non-exclusive licence for contributions from authors who are: i) UK Crown employees; ii) where BMJ has agreed a CC-BY licence shall apply, and/or iii) in accordance with the terms applicable for US Federal Government officers or employees acting as part of their official duties; on a worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free basis to BMJ Publishing Group Ltd ("BMJ") its licensees and where the relevant Journal is co-owned by BMJ to the co-owners of the Journal, to publish the Work in this journal and any other BMJ products and to exploit all rights, as set out in our licence.

The Submitting Author accepts and understands that any supply made under these terms is made by BMJ to the Submitting Author unless you are acting as an employee on behalf of your employer or a postgraduate student of an affiliated institution which is paying any applicable article publishing charge ("APC") for Open Access articles. Where the Submitting Author wishes to make the Work available on an Open Access basis (and intends to pay the relevant APC), the terms of reuse of such Open Access shall be governed by a Creative Commons licence – details of these licences and which Creative Commons licence will apply to this Work are set out in our licence referred to above.

Other than as permitted in any relevant BMJ Author's Self Archiving Policies, I confirm this Work has not been accepted for publication elsewhere, is not being considered for publication elsewhere and does not duplicate material already published. I confirm all authors consent to publication of this Work and authorise the granting of this licence.

Hummingbird study

A protocol for a randomised controlled trial exploring human milk, nutrition, growth, and breastfeeding rates at discharge: The Hummingbird study

Kristina Chmelova¹², Janet Berrington¹³, Natalie Shenker^{4,5}, Stefan Zalewski¹, Judith Rankin², Nicholas Embleton¹²

- 1 Neonatal Department, Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
- 2 Population Health Sciences Institute, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
- 3 Clinical and Translational Research Institute, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
- 4 Department of Surgery and Cancer, Imperial College London, IRDB, Du Cane Road, London UK
- 5 Human Milk Foundation, Rothamsted Institute, Hertfordshire, UK

Corresponding author: Nicholas Embleton, Neonatal Department, Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, email:

Nicholas.embleton@newcastle.ac.uk

ABSTRACT

Introduction

Mother's own breast milk (MOM) is the optimal nutrition for preterm infants as it reduces the incidence of key neonatal morbidities and improves long-term outcomes. However, MOM shortfall is common and either preterm formula (PF) or pasteurised donor human milk (DHM) may be used, although practice varies widely. Limited data suggest that the use of DHM may impact on maternal beliefs and behaviours and may therefore impact on breastfeeding rates. The aim of this pilot study is to determine if the duration of DHM exposure impacts on breastfeeding rates, and maternal breastfeeding self-efficacy.

Methods and analysis

The Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, and Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge (Hummingbird) study is a feasibility and pilot, non-blinded, randomised controlled trial (RCT) with a contemporaneous qualitative evaluation. Babies born at less than 33 weeks gestation or with birth weight <1500 grams whose mothers intend to provide MOM are randomly assigned to either control arm (DHM used to make up shortfall until full feeds, then PF used thereafter) or intervention arm (DHM used to make up shortfall until 36 weeks corrected age or discharge if sooner). The primary outcome is breastfeeding rates at discharge. Secondary outcomes include growth, key neonatal morbidities, length of stay, breastfeeding self-efficacy and postnatal depression using validated questionnaires. Qualitative interviews using a topic guide will explore perceptions around use of DHM and will be analysed using thematic analysis.

Ethics approval and dissemination

Nottingham 2 Research Ethics Committee granted approval for HUMMINGBIRD Study on 6th April 2021 (IRAS Project ID 281071) and recruitment commenced on 7th June 2021. Results will be disseminated in peer-reviewed journals.

Trial registration: Trial was registered prospectively on 4th May 2021 (ISRCTN 57339063).

INTRODUCTION

Approximately 60,000 babies are born prematurely (<37 weeks) in the UK each year. While most are born late preterm (34 -37 weeks), around 10,000 babies are born very preterm (<32 weeks' gestation) (1). Preterm babies often need neonatal intensive care and prolonged hospital stay. While survival rates of extremely preterm (<28 weeks) infants have notably improved over the past two decades, death is still relatively common (2), with late onset sepsis (LOS) and necrotising enterocolitis (NEC) being the most prevalent (3). Preterm infants are at significant risk of long-term complications such as retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) and cognitive impairment (4). Nutritional management impacts on short and long-term neonatal outcomes (5) but remains challenging as macronutrient intakes can sometimes be hard to meet. (6).

Mother's own milk

Mother's own milk (MOM) provides the basis of the optimal diet for preterm babies (7) due to the composition of key proteins and lipids, but also because it provides hormones, enzymes, growth factors and other unique and dyad-specific bioactive nutrients such as

human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) which facilitate early colonisation of the gut. Use of MOM is associated with decreased risk of major neonatal morbidities such as NEC, LOS, ROP or BPD (8-11), and this effect is dose-responsive (12). Whilst an exclusive MOM diet has been associated with slower growth in very low birth weight (VLBW) infants compared to growth with PF use (13, 14), cognitive, cardiac and metabolic outcomes are better (15-17).

Challenges of expressing MOM and breastfeeding in NICU

Despite strong evidence about the benefits of MOM, low breastfeeding rates remain a major health concern. Over 90% of mothers now provide at least some breastmilk after preterm delivery, but breastfeeding rates at discharge for preterm infants vary considerably from 19-70% across Europe (18). In addition to challenges many women experience when breastfeeding, mothers of preterm babies may also be unwell, they must cope with the stress of having a preterm, often sick infant who is physically separated from them from birth, and they need to maintain breastmilk expression for several weeks. Furthermore, the initiation of lactogenesis is often impaired after preterm birth (19).

In view of these challenges, effective support and counselling for mothers who express milk in the NICU is vital. Despite targeted support, shortfall of MOM is common in neonatal intensive care units (NICU)s with more than 80% of infants requiring additional milk at some point (1).

Donor Human Milk

The World Health Organisation, American Association for Pediatrics and European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition recommend the use of donor human

milk (DHM) for feeding premature infants as a first alternative when there is a MOM shortfall (7, 20), despite the relatively lack of high-quality RCTs and heterogeneity of studies. A recent Cochrane review suggested that DHM may reduce risk of NEC compared to PF, with at least 33 infants needing to receive DHM to prevent one NEC case. The data do not support a reduction in mortality or longer-term neurodevelopmental benefits, and many studies were noted to have been conducted more than 20 years ago. (21). Zipitis et al. demonstrated differences in DHM use amongst UK NICUs (22), with some only providing DHM for the first 10 days of a baby's life whereas other units use DHM until closer to discharge. Battersby et al. showed that variation between NICUs is not related to the presence of a local milk bank and is most likely linked to uncertainties around DHM use (23). One key uncertainty is whether DHM affects duration of breastmilk expression or breastfeeding. A systematic review of 10 studies showed that DHM may have a positive impact on any breastfeeding but does not appear to affect rates of exclusive breastfeeding on discharge (24). A large observational study analysing DHM availability in 56 NICUs in the USA showed positive effects on breastfeeding in NICUs where a DHM programme was implemented, along with a decrease in NEC rate (25). A historical cohort comparison study pre- and post-DHM introduction demonstrated increased breastfeeding at discharge and increased consumption of MOM (26). In contrast, another single-centre retrospective study showed that MOM provision decreased over a two-year period following the implementation of a donor milk program where preterm infants consumed less MOM in the first 14 days in the post-DHM cohort. (27). Esquerra-Zwiers et al. showed similarly reduced exclusive MOM use in the first two weeks of life with DHM availability compared to a pre-DHM cohort. However, in these studies enteral feeds were commenced earlier, and infants were exposed to formula later in life in after DHM introduction (28). More recently,

Mondkar et al. showed that DHM use in addition to optimising breastfeeding support and kangaroo care led to improved exclusive human milk feeding (29). To date, no RCT has studied the relationship between donor milk availability and breastfeeding at hospital discharge.

Preterm formula

The composition of PF is designed to meet the high nutritional demands of the preterm infant. This has resulted in improved weight gain, linear growth, and head growth of preterm infants (21). However, no RCTs have shown improved long-term growth or neurodevelopmental outcomes compared to use of MOM or DHM (21, 30). PF may provide a more consistent delivery of macro- and micro-nutrients but lacks non-nutritive content, so called bionutrients, which might be key in reducing disease (e.g. NEC), establishing diverse gut microbiota and improving long-term outcomes (31, 32). The cost of PF (around £5 per litre) is almost 30-fold lower than the cost of DHM (between £125-150 per litre). However, if supplemental DHM feeding prevented NEC, total costs for hospitalisation would favour DHM compared to PF use (33).

Summary of key issues: donor human milk as a 'complex intervention'

In summary, MOM is the optimal source of nutrition for preterm infants. Despite this evidence, breastfeeding rates in the UK are amongst the lowest in the world (34), and breastfeeding rates in the North East of England are some of the lowest in the UK (35). This is also reflected in breastmilk feeding of premature infants. Currently, around 90-95% of

mothers in the North East start expression of breastmilk for their preterm baby, but only 35% are still providing breastmilk at discharge compared to the national average of 60% (35). Improving availability of MOM in NICUs is crucial to reducing key neonatal morbidities. The use of DHM is increasing in most UK neonatal units and is recommended by ESPGHAN when there is a shortfall of mother's own milk, largely because meta-analysis suggests a lower rate of NEC (21). However, because DHM also affects growth, which may in turn be associated with longer term brain and metabolic outcomes, the optimal strategy for improving lifelong health remains uncertain. Observational data show that availability of DHM impacts on breastmilk expression and breastfeeding duration demonstrating that DHM affects beliefs and behaviours of mothers, healthcare staff or perhaps both, and DHM is therefore a 'complex intervention'. Complex interventions in healthcare impact on biology (i.e. health and disease), behaviour and belief (e.g., breastfeeding rates). They may have multiple relevant outcomes and mechanistic causal pathways; and may be affected by context e.g. NICUs with differing background rates of NEC or breastfeeding. There is often long lag time between intervention and outcome (metabolic and cognitive outcomes in adulthood) (36).

Provision of DHM may be the best example of a complex intervention in neonatal medicine, and uncertainties around the optimal strategy are unlikely to be resolved with a single RCT. However, this trial could lay foundation for further trials to investigate the optimal implementation and use of DHM (Figure 1).

METHODS AND ANALYSIS

The HUMMINGBIRD study is a randomised open-label controlled trial set in two tertiary neonatal units in the North East of England. It is designed to compare two different nutritional strategies which use DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM for preterm infants (Table 1)

Population

Infants born before 33 completed weeks of gestation or with a birth weight of less than 1500 g whose mothers intend to express breastmilk after delivery and are willing to accept DHM are eligible. Only infants with written informed consent from parents and randomised within seven days of birth can be included. Infants who were born with major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities or who were exposed to formula milk prior randomisation are excluded.

Intervention: DHM duration

This study aims to assess the impact on breastfeeding at discharge, therefore infants in the intervention group will only continue to receive DHM if their mother is still expressing breastmilk. Where the infant has not received any mother's own breastmilk for one week, or where the mother has told clinical staff she is no longer expressing, the use of DHM will be discontinued and the baby will receive a standard formula milk designed for preterm infants.

Control: DHM duration

Full feeds are defined as a volume of 150 ml/kg/day tolerated for 48 hours. If a shortfall of MOM occurs beyond this point, infants in the control group will receive preterm formula milk.

Randomisation

Infants are randomised with a secured, password protected web-based randomisation tool using a minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com) that incorporates the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no). Twins, triplets, and higher multiples are co-randomised to the same trial arm.

Study Outcomes

Primary outcome

Any breastfeeding, or mother still actively expressing milk, at 36 weeks corrected age or discharge if this is earlier.

Secondary outcomes - growth, feeding and neonatal outcomes

- Growth weekly weight, length and head circumference, absolute changes
 (g/kg/day and mm/week) and change in standard deviation score
- 2. Neonatal morbidities:
 - a. Episodes of confirmed NEC Bell stage 2 or greater
 - Late onset sepsis confirmed and clinically suspected according to existing case definitions (37)
 - c. Chronic lung disease (oxygen requirement or respiratory support at 36 weeks)
 - d. Retinopathy of prematurity (ROP)
 - e. Intraventricular haemorrhage and/or cystic periventricular leukomalacia

- 3. Days of intensive, high and low dependency care (38); corrected age at discharge, total length of stay (days)
- Total volume (litres) of milk (MOM, DHM and formula) received from birth to 36 weeks
- 5. Age at starting breastmilk fortifier and number of days when fortifier is provided
- 6. Type of feeding at discharge (direct breast feeding, tube feeding etc.)
- 7. Type of milk and feeding at 6- and 12-weeks post discharge

Secondary outcomes - maternal questionnaires and qualitative data

A validated questionnaire, Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale — Short Form (BSES-SF) adapted for preterm infants (39), is given to mothers at two time points — around 10 days postnatal age and again at 35-36 weeks corrected age or prior to discharge if sooner. The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) questionnaire will also administered to mothers around day 10 postpartum (40). BSES-SF and EPDS scores will serve as a tool to stratify mothers into two groups (scores in the bottom and top quartile of scores). This will be used as a guide to ensure that both groups will be represented in the subset of interviewed mothers.

Qualitative interviews with mothers will be conducted to explore perceptions around donor milk use and barriers and facilitators to expressing MOM. These one-to-one, in-person semi-structured interviews will be audio-recorded and transcribed. We estimate that 15-20 interviews will be recorded although final number of interviews will be determined by thematic saturation generated through interpretation of data (41).

Hypothesis, sample size and power

We hypothesise that longer access to DHM (intervention arm) will improve the rate of breastfeeding at discharge from the current rate of 35% to the UK national average of 60%. Fifty-eight infants per trial group will be required to detect an improvement in breastfeeding rates at discharge from 35% to 60%. Assuming 10% of infants do not survive, at least 130 infants need to be recruited to complete the trial. We estimate that up to 20% of infants may be discharged before 36 weeks corrected age to a local neonatal unit that does not have continued access to DHM. We will therefore need to recruit between 130 and 156 infants in order for the study to be powered at 80%, and we estimate this will take 18-24 months recruitment.

Analysis

Data will be analysed using an intention-to-treat approach, but additional analysis will be performed only using breastfeeding outcome data for those completing the study (i.e., excluding transfers) and the first baby from a multiple pregnancy enrolled. Categorical data will be presented as counts and frequencies and will be compared using chi squared or Fisher exact test as appropriate. Continuous data will be presented as mean (SD) or median (IQR) and the Shapiro-Wilk test will be used to test the normality of the data. Group differences in continuous data will be compared using Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney U test for normally and non-normally distributed data respectively. All tests will be performed two tailed and p<0.05 will be deemed statistically significant. Qualitative data will be analysed using reflexive thematic analysis (42).

What is already known on this topic:

The benefits of MOM for preterm infants are well recognised but uncertainties remain around the optimal strategy for DHM use, especially whether it impacts on breastfeeding success. DHM is a complex intervention as it impacts on infant health and disease as well as maternal and healthcare staff behaviours and beliefs.

What this study adds:

To our knowledge, HUMMINGBIRD is the first RCT to investigate DHM as a complex intervention.

How this study might affect research, practice or policy:

A single RCT of a complex intervention is unlikely to resolve all uncertainties. In this respect, current systematic reviews of the role of DHM may be of low certainty and do not clearly identify the optimal strategy. Studies incorporating quantitative and qualitative methods may better elucidate the role of DHM in NICUs. HUMMINGBIRD may help optimise the design of future studies in larger scale.

ETHICS APPROVAL AND DISSEMINATION

Nottingham 2 Research Ethics Committee granted approval for HUMMINGBIRD Study on 6th April 2021 (IRAS Project ID 281071) and recruitment commenced on 7th June 2021. A trial steering committee including independent members and parents will oversee trial conduct and progress. The trial is compliant with the UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative. Results will be disseminated in peer-reviewed journals.

COMPETING INTERESTS

NS is the cofounder of the Human Milk Foundation, a UK charity that provides donor human milk. NE and JB report research grants paid to their institution from National Institutes for Health Research, Action Medical Research, Prolacta Biosciences US, Danone Early Life Nutrition and NeoKare but received no personal fee, and have no other financial conflicts related to industry funding. NE reports lecture honoraria from Nestle Nutrition Institute, and Astarte Medical.

FUNDING

This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial or not-for-profit sectors and was supported using internal departmental funds.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

NE had original idea for Hummingbird trial after discussions with NS and played a key role in developing the protocol. JB contributed to study design and protocol development. All authors contributed to the writing and review of this paper and gave final approval for its submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Not applicable.

REFERENCES

1. Statistics OfN. Birth characteristics in England and Wales: 2019 Office for National Statistics 2020 [cited 2022 11/11/2022]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/bulletins/birthcharacteristicsinenglandandwales/2019#gestational-age.

- 2. Santhakumaran S, Statnikov Y, Gray D, Battersby C, Ashby D, Modi N. Survival of very preterm infants admitted to neonatal care in England 2008–2014: time trends and regional variation. Archives of Disease in Childhood Fetal and Neonatal Edition. 2018;103(3):F208-F15.
- 3. Berrington JE, Hearn RI, Bythell M, Wright C, Embleton ND. Deaths in preterm infants: changing pathology over 2 decades. J Pediatr. 2012;160(1):49-53.e1.
- 4. Platt MJ. Outcomes in preterm infants. Public Health. 2014;128(5):399-403.
- 5. Embleton ND. Early nutrition and later outcomes in preterm infants. World Rev Nutr Diet. 2013;106:26-32.
- 6. Ziegler EE, Carlson SJ. Early nutrition of very low birth weight infants. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2009;22(3):191-7.
- 7. Agostoni C, Buonocore G, Carnielli VP, De Curtis M, Darmaun D, Decsi T, et al. Enteral nutrient supply for preterm infants: commentary from the European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition Committee on Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2010;50(1):85-91.
- 8. Patel AL, Johnson TJ, Engstrom JL, Fogg LF, Jegier BJ, Bigger HR, et al. Impact of early human milk on sepsis and health-care costs in very low birth weight infants. J Perinatol. 2013;33(7):514-9.
- 9. Sullivan S, Schanler RJ, Kim JH, Patel AL, Trawöger R, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U, et al. An exclusively human milk-based diet is associated with a lower rate of necrotizing enterocolitis than a diet of human milk and bovine milk-based products. J Pediatr. 2010;156(4):562-7.e1.
- 10. Bharwani SK, Green BF, Pezzullo JC, Bharwani SS, Bharwani SS, Dhanireddy R. Systematic review and meta-analysis of human milk intake and retinopathy of prematurity: a significant update. J Perinatol. 2016;36(11):913-20.
- 11. Villamor-Martínez E, Pierro M, Cavallaro G, Mosca F, Villamor E. Mother's Own Milk and Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Pediatr. 2019;7:224.
- 12. Ahrabi AF, Schanler RJ. Human milk is the only milk for premies in the NICU! Early Hum Dev. 2013;89 Suppl 2:S51-3.
- 13. Embleton NE, Pang N, Cooke RJ. Postnatal malnutrition and growth retardation: an inevitable consequence of current recommendations in preterm infants? Pediatrics. 2001;107(2):270-3.
- 14. Embleton ND. Optimal protein and energy intakes in preterm infants. Early Hum Dev. 2007;83(12):831-7.
- 15. Rozé JC, Darmaun D, Boquien CY, Flamant C, Picaud JC, Savagner C, et al. The apparent breastfeeding paradox in very preterm infants: relationship between breast feeding, early weight gain and neurodevelopment based on results from two cohorts, EPIPAGE and LIFT. BMJ Open. 2012;2(2):e000834.
- 16. El-Khuffash A, Lewandowski AJ, Jain A, Hamvas A, Singh GK, Levy PT. Cardiac Performance in the First Year of Age Among Preterm Infants Fed Maternal Breast Milk. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(8):e2121206.
- 17. Owen CG, Martin RM, Whincup PH, Smith GD, Cook DG. Effect of infant feeding on the risk of obesity across the life course: a quantitative review of published evidence. Pediatrics. 2005;115(5):1367-77.
- 18. Bonet M, Blondel B, Agostino R, Combier E, Maier RF, Cuttini M, et al. Variations in breastfeeding rates for very preterm infants between regions and neonatal units in Europe:

results from the MOSAIC cohort. Archives of Disease in Childhood - Fetal and Neonatal Edition. 2011;96(6):F450-F2.

- 19. Henderson JJ, Hartmann PE, Newnham JP, Simmer K. Effect of preterm birth and antenatal corticosteroid treatment on lactogenesis II in women. Pediatrics. 2008;121(1):e92-100.
- 20. Organization WH. Guidelines on optimal feeding of low birth-weight infants in lowand middle-income countries: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 21. Quigley M, Embleton ND, McGuire W. Formula versus donor breast milk for feeding preterm or low birth weight infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;6(6):Cd002971.
- 22. Zipitis CS, Ward J, Bajaj R. Use of donor breast milk in neonatal units in the UK. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2015;100(3):F279-81.
- 23. Battersby C, Marciano Alves Mousinho R, Longford N, Modi N. Use of pasteurised human donor milk across neonatal networks in England. Early Hum Dev. 2018;118:32-6.
- 24. Williams T, Nair H, Simpson J, Embleton N. Use of Donor Human Milk and Maternal Breastfeeding Rates: A Systematic Review. J Hum Lact. 2016;32(2):212-20.
- 25. Kantorowska A, Wei JC, Cohen RS, Lawrence RA, Gould JB, Lee HC. Impact of Donor Milk Availability on Breast Milk Use and Necrotizing Enterocolitis Rates. Pediatrics. 2016;137(3):e20153123.
- 26. Parker MG, Burnham L, Mao W, Philipp BL, Merewood A. Implementation of a Donor Milk Program Is Associated with Greater Consumption of Mothers' Own Milk among VLBW Infants in a US, Level 3 NICU. J Hum Lact. 2016;32(2):221-8.
- 27. Parker LA, Cacho N, Engelmann C, Benedict J, Wymer S, Michael W, et al. Consumption of Mother's Own Milk by Infants Born Extremely Preterm Following Implementation of a Donor Human Milk Program: A Retrospective Cohort Study. J Pediatr. 2019;211:33-8.
- 28. Esquerra-Zwiers A, Schoeny ME, Engstrom J, Wicks J, Szotek J, Meier P, et al. The Interaction of Donor Human Milk Availability and Race/Ethnicity on Provision of Mother's Own Milk for Very Low Birth Weight Infants. Breastfeed Med. 2021;16(1):46-53.
- 29. Mondkar J, Chawla D, Sachdeva RC, Manerkar S, Shanbhag S, Khan A, et al. Impact of mother-baby friendly initiative plus approach on improving human milk feeding for neonates in hospital: a quality improvement before-and-after uncontrolled study. Eur J Pediatr. 2022;181(1):107-16.
- 30. Hay WW, Jr., Hendrickson KC. Preterm formula use in the preterm very low birth weight infant. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2017;22(1):15-22.
- 31. Masi AC, Embleton ND, Lamb CA, Young G, Granger CL, Najera J, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide DSLNT and gut microbiome in preterm infants predicts necrotising enterocolitis. Gut. 2021;70(12):2273-82.
- 32. Stewart CJ, Ajami NJ, O'Brien JL, Hutchinson DS, Smith DP, Wong MC, et al. Temporal development of the gut microbiome in early childhood from the TEDDY study. Nature. 2018;562(7728):583-8.
- 33. Zanganeh M, Jordan M, Mistry H. A systematic review of economic evaluations for donor human milk versus standard feeding in infants. Matern Child Nutr. 2021;17(2):e13151.
- 34. Wilson E, Edstedt Bonamy AK, Bonet M, Toome L, Rodrigues C, Howell EA, et al. Room for improvement in breast milk feeding after very preterm birth in Europe: Results from the EPICE cohort. Matern Child Nutr. 2018;14(1).
- 35. National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) 2020 annual report on 2019 data2020 [cited 2022. Available from: https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2022-03/NNAP%20Annual%20Report%20on%202020%20data.pdf.

- 36. Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. Bmj. 2021;374:n2061.
- Dong Y, Speer CP. Late-onset neonatal sepsis: recent developments. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2015;100(3):F257-63.
- Categories [Available 38. Medicine BAoP. of Care from: https://www.bapm.org/resources/34-categories-of-care-2011.
- Wheeler BJ, Dennis CL. Psychometric testing of the modified breastfeeding selfefficacy scale (short form) among mothers of ill or preterm infants. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2013;42(1):70-80.
- Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of postnatal depression. Development of the 40. 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. Br J Psychiatry. 1987;150:782-6.
- Braun V, Clarke V. To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a ematic ana. useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health. 2021;13(2):201-16.
- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in 42. psychology. 2006;3(2):77-101.

 \mathbf{O}

M

M

41

Inputs

MOTHERS/PARENTS

- Separation after admission to NICU
- Stress, postnatal depression
- Maternal health issues
- Pressure

HEALTH CARE STAFF

- · Workload and staffing issues
- · Personal attitudes and beliefs about nutritional strategies
- Level of experience and training

Processes

MOTHERS/PARENTS

- Antenatal and early postnatal counselling
- Adequate lactation support
- · Family Integrated Care

HEALTH CARE STAFF

- Education sessions
- Practice guidelines
- · Dedicated infant Feeding Team
- Funding

Outputs

803 on 7 March 2023. Downloaded

sopen.bmj.com/ on April 23, 2024 by guest. Pro

MOTHERS/PARENTS

- Consent for DHM use
- Information leaflets

HEALTH CARE STAFF

- Acceptance of new practices
- Integration into lactation support provision
- · Training and education
- Audit and evaluation/QI

 Increased MOM availability for preterm infants

SHORT-TERM

- Less formula use
- · Earlier enteral feeds and reduced PN use
- Increased awareness about milk donation

MID-TERM

Outcomes

- Improved breastfeeding rates at and after discharge
- Decreased rates of NEC and other neonatal morbidities
- Change in culture and beliefs of health care staff
- Improved parental wellbeing

LONG-TERM

- · Improved longterm outcomes for preterm infants
- Reduced economic costs associated with preterm birth
- · Normalisation of human milk and breastfeeding in society
 - Positive environmental impacts



Normalisation of breastfeeding

SOCIETY AND ENVIRONMENT

· Low breastfeeding rates

https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/bmjpo



Setting	Tertiary level NICUs in North East England
Population	Preterm infants <33 weeks or with a birth weight <1500g admitted in the first seven days of life
Intervention	Use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until 36 weeks corrected age (or discharge if this comes earlier)
Control	Use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds are achieved (tolerating 150mls/kg/day for 48 hours)
Design	Randomised open-label controlled trial
Timeframe	Until 36 weeks corrected gestation or hospital discharge if earlier

Table 1. Summary of study methods

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study





Human Mllk, Nutrition, Growth, and Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Chief Investigator: Dr Nicholas D Embleton, Ward 35, Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle upon Tyne

NE1 4LP, UK

Nicholas.embleton@ncl.ac.uk

Sponsor: Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

IRAS Project ID: 281071

Sponsor Protocol number: NuTH 09735

Trial registration number: ISRCTN

REC reference number:

Investigator team

Dr Kristina Chmelova Trust doctor in Neonatal Medicine, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Janet Berrington Consultant Neonatal Paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals

Professor Judith Rankin Professor of Maternal and Child Health, Newcastle University

Ms Maria Douglass Infant feeding lead, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Stefan Zalewski Consultant Neonatal Paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Claire Granger Research Fellow in Neonatal Medicine, Newcastle Hospitals

Hummingbird Protocol v1.1 | 01/12/2020 | IRAS 281071



J. Growth, Bre.
The Hummingbir.

ar UKRI Future Leaders 1
Anolas Embleton Consultant Neonatal Pa. Dr Natalie Shenker Professor Nicholas Embleton Consultant Neonatal Paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals

MNAI NAI MARKET BOTON FERRINGS

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Contents

Trial Steering Committee (TSC)	3
Study proposal summary	3
Introduction	5
Use of donor human milk (DHM)	5
Current practice of DHM in the UK	7
Summary of key issues	7
Proposed study to explore impacts on breastfeeding	8
Secondary outcomes – growth and neonatal outcomes	8
Secondary outcomes – breastfeeding self-efficacy and thematic analy	
Sample size and Power	9
Funding	
Trial registration, Ethics, HRA and risk burden	10
Patient Public Involvement and importance to the NHS	10
Experience of research team members	11
References	12
Appendix 1: Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale – Short Form	15
Appendix 2: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)	15
Appendix 3: data items	
Appendix 4: Patient Information Sheet (PIS)	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Appendix 5: Consent form	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Appendix 5: Topic guide for interviews	19

PUMATORIZ ME.

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Trial Steering Committee (TSC)

Name	Role
TBC	Independent chair
Dr Nicholas Embleton	Chief Investigator
TBC	Parent
TBC	BFI/Advocacy rep
Maria Douglass	Breast feeding support nurse
Professor Judith Rankin	Co-investigator
Dr Janet Berrington	Co-investigator
Dr Stefan Zalewski	Co-investigator

Study proposal summary

This is the protocol proposal for a single site, non-blinded, randomised controlled trial exploring two currently used dietary regimes in preterm infants. The dietary regimes involve fully supporting mothers to provide their own expressed breast milk and using donor human milk to make up any shortfall in breastmilk supply. The primary outcome is maternal breastfeeding rates at discharge. Mothers of infants on ward 35 neonatal unit at the Royal Victoria Infirmary will be approached by clinical team members, and infants will be enrolled after signed informed consent. Infants do not undergo any additional interventions or tests, and all data used is routinely collected. Mothers will complete short questionnaires on two occasions and a subset invited to take part in qualitative interviews. The study intervention finishes at hospital discharge, but two telephone calls post-discharge will be made to ascertain duration of any prolonged breastfeeding

Title (Acronym)	Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, and Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge:
	The Hummingbird Study
Study centre	Ward 35, Newcastle Royal Victoria Infirmary. Additional sites may be added

Hummingbird Philas and Milliprica is River, Month parentered are a floringer.

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Study objectives To compare two dietary regimes that both use mother's own breastmilk and donor human milk to make up any volume shortfall Study design Randomised open label, controlled trial Inclusion criteria • Preterm infants born <33 completed weeks of gestation or <1500g birthweight • Admitted to neonatal unit in first week of life • Written informed consent from parents • Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth Exclusion criteria • Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk • Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities • Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth • Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		7	
Randomised open label, controlled trial	Study objectives	· -	
Inclusion criteria Preterm infants born <33 completed weeks of gestation or <1500g birthweight Admitted to neonatal unit in first week of life Written informed consent from parents Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth Exclusion criteria Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		and donor human milk to make up any volume shortfall	
Preterm infants born <33 completed weeks of gestation or <1500g birthweight Admitted to neonatal unit in first week of life Written informed consent from parents Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth Exclusion criteria Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)	Study design	Randomised open label, controlled trial	
birthweight Admitted to neonatal unit in first week of life Written informed consent from parents Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth Exclusion criteria Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		Inclusion criteria	
Admitted to neonatal unit in first week of life Written informed consent from parents Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth Exclusion criteria Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)	· O	 Preterm infants born <33 completed weeks of gestation or <1500g 	
Written informed consent from parents Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth Exclusion criteria Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		birthweight	
Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth Exclusion criteria Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Interventions Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		Admitted to neonatal unit in first week of life	
Exclusion criteria Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		Written informed consent from parents	
Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)	Study population	Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth	
Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		Exclusion criteria	
Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk	
Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Alional Society (28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities	
Interventions Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth	
to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients 130-160 infants Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation	
to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk Target number of patients 130-160 infants Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)	Interventions	Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared	
Target number of patients Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age	interventions	to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still	
Randomisation Randomisation Randomisation Randomisation Randomisation Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		providing her own milk	
Randomisation weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)	_	130-160 infants	
Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28	
Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar) Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)	Randomisation	weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no)	
Primary outcomes Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset) Duration of trial		Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using	
Secondary outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)		minimisation algorithm (<u>www.sealedenvelope.com</u> or similar)	
Secondary outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)	Primary outcomes	Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age	
Secondary outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset) Duration of trial	Secondary outcomes	Feed and growth-related outcomes	
Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset) Duration of trial		Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes	
Duration of trial		Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores	
Duration of trial		Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)	
intervention 36 weeks postmenstrual age or hospital discharge (which ever earlier)		36 weeks postmenstrual age or hospital discharge (which ever earlier)	
Recruitment period: 18 months	Duration of study	Recruitment period: 18 months	
Total trial duration: 21 months	Duration of study	Total trial duration: 21 months	

Hummingbird

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

End of Trial	Discharge from neonatal unit at Newcastle
Safety assessments	Routine assessments until discharge from Ward 35 Neonatal Unit
	Safety tracking during hospitalisation

Introduction

Around 10% of all births are premature, but whilst the majority do not require specialist medical treatment, those born very preterm (<32 weeks gestation) require prolonged hospital stay including intensive care. Survival in these infants has increased dramatically in recent years, but death is still common (~10% overall) as are the consequences of life-long physical and cognitive impairment.¹ In the UK around 10,000 premature infants are born every year, representing an annual cost to the NHS of ~£3 billion.²

The commonest cause of death or serious illness in preterm infants after the first few days are gut complications such as necrotising enterocolitis (NEC) or septicaemia.³ Morbidity and mortality is lower in infants who receive mother's own expressed breastmilk (MOM) but >80% still require additional milk supplementation.⁴ This is because there is often a 'shortfall' in maternal milk supply either due to inadequate lactation, or because mothers choose to discontinue expressing breastmilk before infants' are discharged home. Over 90% of mother's now provide at least some breastmilk, but breastfeeding rates at discharge vary considerably from 30-80% depending on hospital.⁵ Low rates of breastfeeding are a major health concern, as there is strong evidence that breastfeeding throughout infancy is beneficial for cognitive and metabolic outcomes (e.g. obesity, high blood pressure etc.) in childhood and throughout the life-course.^{6,7}

Use of donor human milk (DHM)

When there is a shortfall in MOM supply, an alternative milk is needed, which is either formula milk, or pasteurised, donated, human milk (DHM).^{6,8} DHM is provided from one of ~12 donor milk banks in the UK which collect milk from UK donors. DHM must be tested, pasteurised, frozen and transported to hospitals for use. Because of this DHM is much more expensive (£150/litre) than formula milk (£5/litre). Studies also suggest that DHM may be less beneficial than mother's own milk at reducing neonatal disease, and strong support for mothers to provide their own milk is universally accepted.⁹

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



DHM has been widely used for >30 years in the NHS, but there is no national system for supply, and use varies dramatically: some clinical networks do not use it at all, whereas others provide it routinely to all preterm infants. No trial has ever been powered to determine a realistic reduction on rates of necrotising enterocolitis (NEC) or sepsis and such a trial would probably need to recruit at least 2500 infants. There have been no large UK trials of donor human milk in preterm infants ever, and no nationally agreed, evidenced based guidelines for use exist. The only two, recent, moderately sized (300-400 infants) RCTs showed differing effects. A Canadian trial showed no improvement on the primary outcome of cognitive outcome in infancy, although NEC was lower in a secondary analysis; however, there was no impact on survival. A larger Dutch trial showed no effect on death, NEC or sepsis (combined primary outcome) although DHM was only provided for the first 10 days of life. Our current Cochrane meta-analysis concluded that there is no evidence for a reduction in death, or any long-term benefits, but whilst NEC may be lower around 33 infants would need to receive DHM to prevent one case.

In the last 20 years we identified only 5 RCTs including just 1200 infants in total, of which only one study was conducted in Europe. No trials included a qualitative analysis and economic analyses was only conducted in one trial which showed no difference in costs to 18 months age. In the UK, the healthcare costs of DHM need to be considered in order to determine which infants should receive DHM. Inconsistent observational data suggest an impact of donor milk on breast feeding rates, but no trials reported the impact on continued breastfeeding at discharge. Our systematic review concluded that whilst there may be an impact on breastfeeding at discharge where DHM is used (perhaps by creating a more positive culture of breastfeeding), the effect was weak and inconsistent.

Whilst all neonatal units now strive to support mothers to provide breastmilk, proponents of DHM argue that it's use creates a more positive effect on mother's, as well as health professional belief and culture, will result in longer duration of breastmilk expression, and ultimately duration of breastfeeding. However, whilst there are observational data, this has never been tested in well-designed RCTs, and a recent systematic review determined the overall impact was equivocal. Nevertheless, increasing numbers of women, and support groups, now advocate for universal use of DHM in vulnerable infants throughout hospital stay, despite the lack of conclusive data and high-quality health economic evaluation. 16–18

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



Current practice of DHM in the UK

Despite the widespread use of DHM, indications and practical use varies widely between Neonatal Intensive Care Units (NICUs) and hospitals. Some NICUs restrict use to only those infants born <28 weeks whereas others provide to all infants <32-34 weeks or <1500g. Some hospitals also use DHM for term born infants with cardiac and gut conditions, and in some situations, parents have asked for DHM to be used in term born infants where maternal supply is inadequate. In the first few days when milk feeds are established in preterm infants only relatively small DHM volumes are required, but volume (and therefore costs) increase as the infant grows. Clinical practice in NICUs in the UK varies widely. 10,19,20 Some NICUs only use DHM until full milk feeds have been established. This is because most key events linked to feeding (sepsis, NEC and other severe illness) occur in the first 10 days. However, other units will use DHM until closer to discharge because some clinicians feel this is more likely to support longer term breast feeding.

A further challenge arises because human breast milk alone will not meet the nutrient requirements for preterm infants.²¹ To meet the higher nutrient requirements of preterm infants, commercially produced breast-milk-fortifiers (BMF) are added to mothers' own milk or donor milk. Although human milk-based fortifiers are available these are not widely used outside the USA and are very expensive.²² BMF is therefore produced from cow's milk and is therefore a similar product to cow's milk infant formula. Many clinicians feel that rather than adding BMF to donor milk it would be preferable to use a milk formula.²⁰ This is because growth is slower in infants receiving DHM, and there are concerns that slow early growth may increase the risk of other problems, including worse cognitive outcomes. In addition, the continued use of DHM after full feeds are established in a typical preterm infant at 28 weeks born weighing 1000g, would cost around £1000-2000 more where the infant receives all DHM compared to infants receiving formula (in the situation where mothers do not provide any breastmilk).

Summary of key issues

In summary, use of donor human milk is commonplace in most UK neonatal units and despite the lack of a conclusive evidence base seems likely to remain a common choice for many clinicians where there is a shortfall in mothers' own milk. Most parents appear to favour use of DHM, and DHM is also strongly supported by advocacy groups including the WHO and UNICEF. There is no consistent approach to the use of DHM once feeds are established, and growth is faster when formula is used. DHM is also more expensive compared to formula. DHM may improve breastfeeding rates at discharge, and/or improve maternal self-efficacy for breast feeding, but if there are no additional

Human

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

benefits from more prolonged use then resources may be better spent elsewhere, for example by employing more lactation specialists to support mothers to provide their own milk.

Proposed study to explore impacts on breastfeeding

The Hummingbird study is designed to compare two clinical dietary approaches, both of which are routinely used in the UK, by comparing the use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds (control) to that of using DHM for a longer duration up to the pre-discharge period (intervention).

- Setting: Tertiary level NICU on ward 35, Royal Victoria
- Population: preterm infants <33 weeks or <1500g admitted in the first 7 days of life
- Intervention: use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until 35-36 weeks corrected age (or the initiation of breast feeding)
- **Control**: use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds are achieved (tolerating 150mls/kg/day for 48 hours) and use of preterm formula milk to make up shortfall thereafter
- Primary outcome: any breastfeeding at 36 weeks corrected age or hospital discharge if this is earlier. This outcome is also met if a mother is still actively expressing breastmilk which the infant receives wholly or in part via a bottle/
- Study design: non-blinded randomised controlled trial
- Timeframe: until 36 weeks corrected gestation or hospital discharge is earlier

Currently around 90-95% of our mother's start expression of breastmilk for their baby, but only 35% are still providing breastmilk at discharge compared to the national average of 60%. The rate in the North East of England is around the lowest in the UK. Mothers who choose or are unable to continue providing MOM may do this at any point in time after they have started. Because this study is designed to impact on breastfeeding at discharge, infants in the intervention group will only continue to receive DHM if their mother is still continuing to provide breastmilk. Where the infant has not received any mother's own breastmilk for 1 week, or where the mother has told clinical staff she is no longer expressing, we will discontinue use of DHM, and the baby will receive a standard formula milk designed for preterm infants.

Secondary outcomes – growth and neonatal outcomes

We will collect a range of relevant common neonatal secondary outcomes:

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



- 1. Growth weekly weight, length and head circumference, mid-arm/thigh where feasible, absolute changes (g/kg/day and mm/week) and change in standard deviation score
- 2. Episodes of NEC, sepsis confirmed and clinically suspected according to existing nationally agreed case definitions
- 3. Chronic lung disease, Retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), Intraventricular haemorrhage, Cystic PVL etc.
- 4. Days of intensive, high and low dependency care; age at discharge, total length of stay
- 5. Total volume (litres) of milk (MOM, DHM and formula) received from birth to 36 weeks
- 6. Age at starting fortifier
- 7. Type of feeding at discharge (direct breast feeding, tube feeding etc.)

Secondary outcomes – breastfeeding self-efficacy and thematic analysis of interviews

We will use a mixed methods approach to determine maternal breastfeeding self-efficacy expression and conduct qualitative interviews in a subset of up to 20 mothers. We will use two short validated questionnaires – the Breast-feeding Self-efficacy Scale – Short form (BSES-SF)^{24,25} and the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale²⁶ - at two time points: between 5-10 days of age and again at 35-36wca or prior to discharge if sooner. These only take around 1-2 minutes to complete. We will use the BSES-SF scores to identify women in the top and bottom quartiles of scores and invite up to 10 women per trial group to take part in a qualitative tape-recorded interview. This will be transcribed and analysed using thematic analysis. We will develop a topic guide based on the questions on the BSE-SF and our experience (see appendix). Interviews will be conducted by a single member of the research team (KC) shortly before or after hospital discharge. We will seek consent to keep in touch with parents after discharge. We will also ask for consent to keep in telephone contact with mothers who are breastfeeding at discharge at 1-2 monthly intervals in order to simply ascertain duration of breastfeeding.

Sample size and Power

We hypothesise that prolonged use of DHM will improve the rate of breastfeeding at discharge from 35% to the UK national average of 60%. Fifty-eight infants per trial group would be required to detect an improvement in breastfeeding rates at discharge from 35% to 60%. Assuming 10% of infants do not survive we will need to recruit at least 130 infants who are still receiving care at the RVI at ~36 weeks corrected age (wca). We estimate that up to 20% of infants may be discharged before 36wca to a local hospital that does not have continued access to DHM. We will therefore need to recruit between 130 and 156 infants in order that we are powered to determine the primary outcome. The NICU on ward 35 admits ~160 babies every year <1500g or <33 weeks of whom we expected around 80% of infants

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



will be enrolled (based on previous RCTs we conducted). Therefore, we estimate we will need a 12-18 months recruitment period so we can enrol at least 130 infants who achieve the primary outcome. Twins and triplets will be co-randomised to the same trial arm. We will analyse the data for all infants using an intention-to-treat approach, but we will perform additional analysis only using breastfeeding outcome data for the first twin enrolled.

Funding

This trial will use dietary treatments already used in this way on the neonatal unit and collect routinely available electronic clinical data extracted from e-record and Badger neonatal database and inputted into an excel worksheet. There are no costs for use of questionnaires. Trial recruitment, consenting and interviews will be conducted by a member of clinical staff who has time available as part of daily activities (KC) supported by the neonatal research nurse. Costs for ISRCTN registration, printing, paperwork, tape recording, transcription, and travel costs for membership of the TSC will be met out of existing departmental research funds.

Trial registration, Ethics, HRA and risk burden

The trial will be registered on ISRCTN prior to opening. We will apply for HRA and REC approvals and apply for adoption onto the NIHR portfolio. There are no specific ethical issues with this trial, but we recognise the additional burden placed on parents by being asked to consider trial enrolment. There are no additional safety issues as part of the trial *per se*. Use of donor breastmilk could be associated with theoretical risks (although none have been documented) or inadvertent use of the 'wrong' milk, but donor milk is already used in routine practice and this trial does not increase the risk. No additional interventions or tests are applied to infants as part of the trial. The questionnaires do ask sensitive information but only members of the clinical team will see the responses and will already be aware of important family and mental health issues as part of routine family centred care on the neonatal unit. Where the mother wishes, we will use the questionnaire responses to provide further targeted support to help her. The trial is fully compliant with national recommendations and Baby Friendly Initiative (BFI) part of UNICEF.

Patient Public Involvement and importance to the NHS

We have discussed this study with parents on the neonatal unit, and other parents after discharge. Parents tell us that the risks and complication associated with feeding preterm infants, and the stress of being able to provide breastmilk for their infant are very important issues. In addition, the James Lind alliance (JLA) priority setting www.jla.nihr.ac.uk/priority-setting-partnerships/preterm-birth/top-10-priorities/ identifies feeding and nutrition as very important. Our study focuses on key JLA priorities (i) what is the optimum milk feeding strategy (ii) what type of support is most effective in improving

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



breastfeeding and will provide additional information relevant for a further 2 additional priorities (iii) how can infection be better prevented (iv) what interventions are most effective at preventing NEC. This trial is of major relevance to the NHS and studies interventions and outcomes highlighted in a recent top research priority setting in preterm infants.²⁷ Breastfeeding is a major national priority and is an intervention that has potential to benefit marginalised and poorly resourced groups.

Breastfeeding support in the community is essential to continued successful breastfeeding but is recognised as being inadequate in many settings. NEC is a devastating condition, and half of the infants requiring surgery die or have long-term serious disability. Donor human milk is an important cost for the NHS, but the total costs of DHM even for a large NICU will still be substantially less than the costs associated with a single episode of surgical NEC. We will invite a parent to join the TSC and invite an additional independent member to the TSC from a charity or parent advocacy organisation. We will liaise with Tiny Lives charity and Bliss UK to consider the implications of our trial findings and disseminate the results.

Experience of research team members

We are an experienced research team, having recruited more than 1000 preterm infants to trials and studies in the last 10 years, including qualitative exploration of sensitive issue in parents whose babies did not survive. We are recognised internationally for our work on feeding and nutrition, and associated complications such as necrotising enterocolitis. We have worked closely with parents on all our studies (see above).

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



References

- March of Dimes, PMNCH, Save the Children W. Born too soon. Born Too Soon, Glob Action Rep Preterm Birth Eds CP Howson, MV Kinney, JE Lawn World Heal Organ Geneva [Internet]. 2012;13(5):1–126. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23911366
- 2. Khan KA, Petrou S, Dritsaki M, Johnson SJ, Manktelow B, Draper ES, et al. Economic costs associated with moderate and late preterm birth: A prospective population-based study. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;122(11):1495–505.
- 3. Berrington JE, Hearn RI, Bythell M, Wright C, Embleton ND. Deaths in preterm infants: Changing pathology over 2 decades. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 2];160(1):49-53.e1. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.06.046
- 4. Quigley M, Embleton ND, McGuire W. Formula versus donor breast milk for feeding preterm or low birht weight infants (Review) in press. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;
- 5. Stiles S, De Rooy L. Breastfeeding rates at discharge: Don't blame the fortifier! A national survey of practice and comparison with NNAP data. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2018;103(6):597–8.
- 6. Menon G, Williams TC. Human milk for preterm infants: why, what, when and how? Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed [Internet]. 2013;98(6):F559-62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23893267
- 7. Quigley M a, Hockley C, Carson C, Kelly Y, Renfrew MJ, Sacker A. Breastfeeding is associated with improved child cognitive development: a population-based cohort study. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 21];160(1):25–32. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21839469
- 8. Renfrew MJ, Craig D, Dyson L, McCormick F, Rice S, King SE, et al. Breastfeeding promotion for infants in neonatal units: a systematic review and economic analysis. Health Technol Assess [Internet]. 2009 Aug [cited 2015 Jan 2];13(40):1–146, iii–iv. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19728934
- 9. Corpeleijn WE, de Waard M, Christmann V, van Goudoever JB, Jansen-van der Weide MC, Kooi EMW, et al. Effect of Donor Milk on Severe Infections and Mortality in Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants. JAMA Pediatr [Internet]. 2016;1–8. Available from: http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0183
- 10. Zipitis CS, Ward J, Bajaj R. Use of donor breast milk in neonatal units in the UK. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed [Internet]. 2014 Dec 24 [cited 2015 Jan 2];0(0):24–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25540146
- 11. Unger S, Gibbins S, Zupancic J, O'Connor DL. DoMINO: Donor milk for improved neurodevelopmental outcomes. BMC Pediatr [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 12];14(1):123. Available from:
 - http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4032387&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract
- 12. O'Connor DL, Gibbins S, Kiss A, Bando N, Brennan-Donnan J, Ng E, et al. Effect of Supplemental Donor Human Milk Compared With Preterm Formula on Neurodevelopment of Very Low-Birth-

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



- Weight Infants at 18 Months. Jama [Internet]. 2016;316(18):1897. Available from: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jama.2016.16144
- 13. Corpeleijn WE, de Waard M, Christmann V, van Goudoever JB, Jansen-van der Weide MC, Kooi EMW, et al. Effect of Donor Milk on Severe Infections and Mortality in Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants: The Early Nutrition Study Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Pediatr [Internet]. 2016;1–8. Available from:
 - http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0183%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27135598
- 14. Parker LA, Cacho N, Engelmann C, Benedict J, Wymer S, Michael W, et al. Consumption of Mother's Own Milk by Infants Born Extremely Preterm Following Implementation of a Donor Human Milk Program: A Retrospective Cohort Study. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2019; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2019.03.040
- 15. Williams T, Nair H, Simpson J, Embleton N. Use of Donor Human Milk and Maternal Breastfeeding Rates: A Systematic Review. J Hum Lact. 2015;32(2).
- 16. Carroll K. Body dirt or liquid gold? How the "safety" of donated breastmilk is constructed for use in neonatal intensive care. Soc Stud Sci [Internet]. 2014;44(3):466–85. Available from: http://sss.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0306312714521705
- 17. Simmer K, Hartmann B. The knowns and unknowns of human milk banking. Early Hum Dev [Internet]. 2009 Nov [cited 2015 Jan 2];85(11):701–4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19766412
- 18. Zupancic JAF, Unger S, Kiss A, Bando N, Trang S, Gibbins S, et al. Cost- E ffectiveness of Supplemental Donor Milk Versus Formula for Very Low Birth Weight Infants abstract. 2018;141(3).
- 19. Klingenberg C, Embleton ND, Jacobs SE, O'Connell L a F, Kuschel C a. Enteral feeding practices in very preterm infants: an international survey. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 2];97(1):F56-61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21856644
- 20. Embleton ND, Barnett D, Oates C, Griffiths J, Simpson JH, Smith H, et al. British Association of Perinatal Medicine The Use of Donor Human Expressed Breast Milk in Newborn Infants A Framework for Practice. 2016;(July):1–3.
- 21. Young L, Embleton ND, McCormick FM, McGuire W, Lauren Y, D EN, et al. Multinutrient fortification of human breast milk for preterm infants following hospital discharge. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2013;2(2):CD004866. Available from: http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed11&NEWS=N&AN=234505 56%5Cnhttp://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD004866.pub4/abstract
- 22. Sullivan S, Schanler RJ, Kim JH, Patel AL, Trawöger R, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U, et al. An exclusively human milk-based diet is associated with a lower rate of necrotizing enterocolitis than a diet of human milk and bovine milk-based products. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2014 Dec 23];156(4):562-7.e1. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20036378
- 23. Wilson E, Edstedt Bonamy A-K, Bonet M, Toome L, Rodrigues C, Howell EA, et al. Room for improvement in breast milk feeding after very preterm birth in Europe: Results from the EPICE

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



- cohort. Matern Child Nutr [Internet]. 2017;(December 2016):e12485. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/mcn.12485
- 24. Wheeler BJ, Dennis CL. Psychometric Testing of the Modified Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale (Short Form) Among Mothers of Ill or Preterm Infants. JOGNN - J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2013;42(1):70-80.
- Brockway M, Benzies KM, Carr E, Aziz K. Breastfeeding self-efficacy and breastmilk feeding for 25. moderate and late preterm infants in the Family Integrated Care trial: A mixed methods protocol. Int Breastfeed J. 2018;13(1):1-11.
- 26. Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of Postnatal Depression. Br J Psychiatry. 1987;150(6):782-6.
- Je .1–11.
 .ction of Pc.

 ,, David AL, James C.
 partnership between pc.
 .Pregnancy Childbirth. 2015. 27. Oliver S, Uhm S, Duley L, Crowe S, David AL, James CP, et al. Top research priorities for preterm birth: Results of a prioritisation partnership between people affected by preterm birth and healthcare professionals. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1):1–10.

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



Appendix 1: Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale - Short Form

²⁴Wheeler et al. 2013

Original Items

I can....

- 1. Determine that my baby is getting enough milk
- 2. Successfully cope with the breastfeeding situation (pumping and actual breastfeeding) like I have with other challenging tasks
- 3. Breastfeed my baby without using formula as a supplement
- 4. Ensure that my baby is properly latched on for the whole feeding
- 5. Manage the breastfeeding situation to my satisfaction
- 6. Manage to breastfeed even if my baby is crying
- 7. Keep wanting to breastfeed
- 8. Comfortably breastfeed with my family members present
- 9. Be satisfied with my breastfeeding experience
- 10. Deal with the fact that pumping and breastfeeding can be time consuming
- 11. Finish feeding my baby on one breast before switching to the other breast
- 12. Continue to breastfeed my baby for every feeding
- 13. Manage to keep up with my baby's breastfeeding demands
- 14. Tell when my baby is finished breastfeeding

Additional Items

- 1. Pump enough milk for my baby
- 2. Get help with breastfeeding if or when I need it
- 3. Determine when my baby needs to be fed
- 4. Switch from mostly pumping to mostly or completely breastfeeding my baby

Appendix 2: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)

²⁶Cox et al.

I have been able to laugh and see the funny side of things.



- As much as I always could
- Not quite so much now
- Definitely not so much now
- Not at all

- I have looked forward with enjoyment to things.
 - As much as I ever did
 - Rather less than I used to
 - Definitely less than I used to
 - Hardly at all
- I have blamed myself unnecessarily when things went wrong.
 - Yes, most of the time
 - Yes, some of the time
 - Not very often
 - No, never
- ☑ I have been anxious or worried for no good reason.
 - No not at all
 - Hardly ever
 - Yes, sometimes
 - Yes, very often
- $\ensuremath{\mathbb{D}}$ I have felt scared or panicky for no very good reason.
 - Yes, quite a lot
 - Yes, sometimes

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



- No, not much
- No, not at all
- Things have been getting on top of me.
 - Yes, most of the time I haven't been able to cope at all
 - Yes, sometimes I haven't been coping as well as usual
 - No, most of the time I have coped quite well
 - No, I have been coping as well as ever
- I have been so unhappy that I have had difficulty sleeping.
 - Yes, most of the time
 - Yes, sometimes
 - Not very often
 - No, not at all
- I have felt sad or miserable.
 - Yes, most of the time
 - Yes, sometimes
 - Not very often
 - No, not at all
- I have been so unhappy that I have been crying.
 - Yes, most of the time
 - Yes, quite often
 - Only occasionally
 - No, never



- The thought of harming myself has occurred to me.
 - Yes, quite often
 - Sometimes
 - Hardly ever
 - Never

Appendix 3: data items

We will use standard definitions of disease and outcomes refined and validated in our previous studies to collect data including

- Standardized forms for: NEC/gut complications; sepsis; ROP grade and treatment at discharge;
 CLD at 36w; presence of IVH/PVL or PDA requiring treatment
- Day of first milk feed; receipt of buccal colostrum
- Time to full feeds sustained for 3 days; days of nil by mouth; age at first use of DHM, fortifier and formula milk
- Postnatal age at last breastmilk expression, first day of feeding from the breast, postnatal age at last received MOM, age at last breast feed (telephone report post-discharge)
- Maternal demographics: postcode/SES, age, parity, previous breastfeeding, previous breastfeeding for at least 3 months, smoking, major maternal disease e.g. diabetes etc.
- Validated questionnaire for breastfeeding self-efficacy (BSES)
- Validated questionnaire Edinburgh postnatal depression score (EPND)
- Costs associated with length of stay (days) for each category of care (intensive, high and low dependency) estimated using NHS HRGs
- Costs of DHM provided by Hearts Milk Bank includes transport, storage at site etc.

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



Appendix 4: Topic guide for interviews

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge:

The Hummingbird Study

Parent Topic Guide for Interviews

Interviewer extends a special thanks to the mother for agreeing to take part in the research. Explain that the aims of the study are to seek the views and experiences about aspects of breastfeeding support and use of human donor milk. Reassure that it is OK for anyone else, including the father, to be present if the mother wishes. Make the point that she doesn't have to answer all questions.

Interviewer introduces herself and outlines the study

Explain use of the audio recorder – the interview is being audio recorded so I have an accurate account of what the participant has said and so that I don't have to take handwritten notes. Interviews will be anonymised when they are typed up prior to analysis (i.e. their names and any other information that could identify them are taken out.)

- Assure confidentiality.
- Ask whether they have any more questions about the study?
- Check they have signed the consent form and are happy
- Explain that the interview can be ended or postponed at any time.

Introduction

Can you tell me a little about how your baby is getting on at present?

Feelings and support before and after birth

- Did you think about breastfeeding before your baby was born?
- Have you breast fed before, or been to any antenatal classes on breastfeeding?
- Did having a premature baby change what you thought or felt?

Patient Information

- Did anyone speak to you about expressing breastmilk shortly after the birth?
- Do you think you were given enough information or support?
- Did you feel empowered to make an informed decision or did you feel pressurised?
- In what ways could the information or support you were given be improved?
 - explanations
 - o information to read
 - o other?



Feelings and support whilst on the NICU

- Do you think the staff were sensitive to your opinions and any challenges you had?
- What could staff have done to improve support for you?
- Did you feel supported by friends, partners and other family members?
- Looking back, how do you feel your experience of providing breastmilk was for this baby?
- What do you think about the use of human donor milk or formula milk?
- Would you have preferred your baby to receive donor milk for longer?
- If money (NHS costs) was not an issue, do you think other babies should be offered donor milk if the mum is struggling to breast feed? E.g. a term baby where the mother is unwell, or has a poor milk supply?

End of interview

I have reached the end of my questions. Is there anything you would like to add? How did you feel about the interview?

- Are there any questions you would like to ask me about the study?
- Thank them for giving up their time and supporting the study.
- Ask them if they still agree for the interview to be analysed.

Explain they can find a summary of the findings on the website <u>www.neonatalresearch.net</u> at the end of the study.

BMJ Paediatrics Open

A protocol for a pilot randomised controlled trial exploring human milk, nutrition, growth, and breastfeeding rates at discharge: The Hummingbird study

Journal:	BMJ Paediatrics Open
Manuscript ID	bmjpo-2022-001803.R1
Article Type:	Protocol
Date Submitted by the Author:	26-Jan-2023
Complete List of Authors:	Chmelova, Kristina; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Unit; Newcastle University, Berrington, Janet; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Department; Newcastle University Shenker, Natalie; Imperial College London Institute of Reproductive and Developmental Biology, Department of Surgery and Cancer; Rothamsted Research Zalewski, Stefan; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Department Rankin, Judith; Newcastle University Embleton, Nick; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Department; Newcastle University
Keywords:	Neonatology, Qualitative research, Growth

SCHOLARONE™ Manuscripts



I, the Submitting Author has the right to grant and does grant on behalf of all authors of the Work (as defined in the below author licence), an exclusive licence and/or a non-exclusive licence for contributions from authors who are: i) UK Crown employees; ii) where BMJ has agreed a CC-BY licence shall apply, and/or iii) in accordance with the terms applicable for US Federal Government officers or employees acting as part of their official duties; on a worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free basis to BMJ Publishing Group Ltd ("BMJ") its licensees and where the relevant Journal is co-owned by BMJ to the co-owners of the Journal, to publish the Work in this journal and any other BMJ products and to exploit all rights, as set out in our licence.

The Submitting Author accepts and understands that any supply made under these terms is made by BMJ to the Submitting Author unless you are acting as an employee on behalf of your employer or a postgraduate student of an affiliated institution which is paying any applicable article publishing charge ("APC") for Open Access articles. Where the Submitting Author wishes to make the Work available on an Open Access basis (and intends to pay the relevant APC), the terms of reuse of such Open Access shall be governed by a Creative Commons licence – details of these licences and which Creative Commons licence will apply to this Work are set out in our licence referred to above.

Other than as permitted in any relevant BMJ Author's Self Archiving Policies, I confirm this Work has not been accepted for publication elsewhere, is not being considered for publication elsewhere and does not duplicate material already published. I confirm all authors consent to publication of this Work and authorise the granting of this licence.

Hummingbird study

A protocol for a pilot randomised controlled trial exploring human milk, nutrition, growth, and breastfeeding rates at discharge: The

Hummingbird study

Kristina Chmelova¹², Janet Berrington¹³, Natalie Shenker^{4,5}, Stefan Zalewski¹, Judith Rankin², Nicholas Embleton¹²

- 1 Neonatal Department, Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
- 2 Population Health Sciences Institute, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
- 3 Clinical and Translational Research Institute, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne,
 UK
- 4 Department of Surgery and Cancer, Imperial College London, IRDB, Du Cane Road, London UK
- 5 Human Milk Foundation, Rothamsted Institute, Hertfordshire, UK

Corresponding author: Nicholas Embleton, Neonatal Department, Newcastle upon Tyne
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK,
email: Nicholas.embleton@newcastle.ac.uk

ABSTRACT

Introduction

Mother's own breast milk (MOM) is the optimal nutrition for preterm infants as it reduces the incidence of key neonatal morbidities and improves long-term outcomes. However, MOM shortfall is common and either preterm formula or pasteurised donor human milk (DHM) may be used, although practice varies widely. Limited data suggest that the use of DHM may impact maternal beliefs and behaviours and therefore breastfeeding rates. The aim of this pilot study is to determine if a longer duration of DHM exposure increases breastfeeding rates, and if a randomised controlled trial (RCT) design is feasible.

Methods and analysis

The Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, and Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge (HUMMINGBIRD) study is a feasibility and pilot, non-blinded RCT with a contemporaneous qualitative evaluation. Babies born less than 33 weeks gestation or with birth weight <1500 grams whose mothers intend to provide MOM are randomly assigned to either control (DHM used to make up shortfall until full feeds and preterm formula thereafter) or intervention (DHM used for shortfall until 36 weeks corrected age or discharge if sooner). The primary outcome is breastfeeding at discharge. Secondary outcomes include growth, neonatal morbidities, length of stay, breastfeeding self-efficacy and postnatal depression using validated questionnaires. Qualitative interviews using a topic guide will explore perceptions around use of DHM and analysed using thematic analysis.

Ethics approval and dissemination

Nottingham 2 Research Ethics Committee granted approval (IRAS Project ID 281071) and recruitment commenced on 7th June 2021. Results will be disseminated in peer-reviewed journals.

Trial registration: Trial was registered prospectively on 4th May 2021 (ISRCTN 57339063).

INTRODUCTION

Approximately 60,000 babies are born prematurely (<37 weeks) in the UK each year and around 10,000 babies are born very preterm (<32 weeks' gestation) (1). While survival rates of extremely preterm (<28 weeks) infants have improved recently, serious adverse outcomes including late onset sepsis (LOS) and necrotising enterocolitis (NEC) remain common (2, 3). Preterm infants are at significant risk of long-term complications including retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) and cognitive impairment (4). Nutritional management impacts short and long-term outcomes (5) but remains challenging as macronutrient intakes can be hard to meet (6).

Mother's own milk

Mother's own milk (MOM) provides the basis of the optimal diet for preterm babies due to its composition including key proteins and lipids, as well as enzymes, growth factors and other unique dyad-specific bioactive nutrients such as human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) (7). Use of MOM is associated with a dose-response decreased risk of neonatal morbidities such as NEC, LOS, and BPD (8-11). Whilst an exclusive MOM diet has been associated with slower growth compared to preterm formula (PF) (12, 13), cognitive, cardiac, and metabolic outcomes are better (14-16).

Challenges of expressing MOM and breastfeeding in NICU

Despite well recognised benefits of MOM, low breastfeeding rates remain a major health concern. Over 90% of mothers delivering prematurely now provide some breastmilk, but breastfeeding rates at discharge vary considerably across the UK (25-91%)(17). Mothers of preterm babies must cope with the stress of having a preterm, sick infant and maintain

breastmilk expression for several weeks. Furthermore, the initiation of lactogenesis is often impaired after preterm birth (18), and despite targeted support, infants require additional milk at some stage (17).

Donor Human Milk

The World Health Organisation, American Association for Pediatrics and European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition recommend the use of donor human milk (DHM) for feeding premature infants as a first alternative when there is a MOM shortfall (7, 19), despite few high-quality RCTs and heterogeneity of studies. A recent Cochrane review suggested that DHM may reduce the risk of NEC compared to preterm formula (PF), with at least 33 infants needing to receive DHM to prevent one NEC case. The data do not support a reduction in mortality or longer-term neurodevelopmental benefits (20). Differences in DHM use exist amongst UK NICUs (21), with some only providing DHM for the first 10 days whereas other units use DHM for closer until discharge. Variation between NICU maybe linked to uncertainties around DHM use including whether DHM affects duration of breastmilk expression or breastfeeding (22). A systematic review showed that DHM may have a positive effect on any breastfeeding but rates of exclusive breastfeeding on discharge are unchanged (23). A large observational study in 56 NICUs in the USA showed increased rates of breastfeeding in NICUs where a DHM programme was implemented, along with a decrease in NEC rate (24). In contrast, another single-centre retrospective study showed that MOM provision decreased following the implementation of a donor milk program and-preterm infants consumed less MOM in the first 14 days in the post-DHM cohort (25). Esquerra-Zwiers showed similarly reduced MOM use in the first 14 days of life with DHM availability. However, in this study enteral feeds were commenced

earlier, and infants were exposed to formula later in life in after DHM introduction (26). More recently, DHM used in addition to optimising breastfeeding support and kangaroo care led to improved exclusive human milk feeding (27). To date, no RCT has studied the relationship between donor milk availability and breastfeeding at hospital discharge.

Preterm formula

The composition of PF is designed to meet the high-nutrient demands of the preterm infant and results in improved weight gain, linear and head growth (20). However, no RCTs have shown improved long-term growth or neurodevelopmental outcomes compared to use of MOM or DHM (20, 28). PF may provide a more consistent delivery of macro- and micro-nutrients but generally lacks bioactive component, which might be key in reducing disease and improving long-term outcomes (29, 30). The cost of PF (around £5 per litre) is almost 30-fold lower than the cost of DHM (between £125-150 per litre). However, systematic review of economic evaluations of DHM determine it is a cost-effective intervention because it reduced occurrence of NEC by two thirds compared to formula (31).

Summary of key issues: donor human milk as a 'complex intervention'

Whilst MOM is the optimal source of nutrition for preterm infants, rates of breastmilk feeding could be improved. Around 90-95% of mothers in the North East start breastmilk expression, but only 35% still provide breastmilk at discharge compared to the national average of 60% (32). Improving availability of MOM is crucial to reducing key neonatal morbidities. DHM use is increasing in most UK neonatal units and is recommended by ESPGHAN when there is a MOM shortfall (7). However, because DHM may affect growth, the optimal strategy for improving lifelong health remains uncertain. Observational data

show that DHM availability is associated with breastmilk expression and breastfeeding duration suggesting that DHM affects beliefs and behaviours of mothers and perhaps healthcare staff, and DHM is therefore a 'complex intervention'. Complex interventions in healthcare influence biology (i.e. health and disease) as well as behaviour and belief (e.g., breastfeeding rates). Complex interventions may have multiple relevant outcomes and mechanistic causal pathways; and may be affected by context e.g. NICUs with differing background rates of NEC or breastfeeding. Like many other complex interventions, there is a long lag time between dietary interventions such as DHM and outcomes, e.g. metabolism and cognition in adulthood (33).

Provision of DHM may be the best example of a complex intervention in neonatal medicine, and uncertainties around the optimal strategy are unlikely to be resolved with a single RCT. We designed this pilot trial to determine the foundation for further trials that can investigate the optimal implementation and use of DHM (Figure 1).

METHODS AND ANALYSIS

The HUMMINGBIRD study is a randomised open-label controlled trial in two tertiary neonatal units in the North East of England, the second site being added in May 2022. It is designed to compare two different nutritional strategies both of which use DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM for preterm infants, but provided until two points of time – full feeds vs 36 weeks corrected age (ca) (Table 1).

Setting	Tertiary level NICUs in North East England
Danielatian	Preterm infants <33 weeks or with a birth weight <1500g admitted in the
Population	first seven days of life

Intervention	Use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until 36 weeks corrected age
	(or discharge if this comes earlier)
Control	Use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds are achieved
	(tolerating 150mls/kg/day for 48 hours)
Design	Randomised open-label controlled trial
Timeframe	Until 36 weeks corrected gestation or hospital discharge if earlier

Table 1. Summary of study methods

Population

Infants born before 33 completed weeks of gestation or with a birth weight of less than 1500 g whose mothers intend to express breastmilk after delivery and are willing to accept DHM are eligible. Only infants with written informed consent from parents and randomised within seven days of birth can be included. Infants who were born with major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities or who were exposed to formula milk prior to randomisation are excluded.

Intervention: DHM to 36 weeks

DHM is used to make up any shortfall in MOM until 36 weeks ca. If infants do not experience any shortfall, they will continue to receive MOM. This study aims to assess the effect of DHM on breastfeeding at discharge, therefore infants in the intervention group will only continue to receive DHM if their mother is still expressing breastmilk. Where the infant has not received any MOM for one week, or where the mother has told clinical staff she stopped expressing, the use of DHM will be discontinued and the baby will receive PF.

Control: DHM until full feeds only

DHM is used to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds are achieved (tolerating 150mls/kg/day for 48 hours). If a shortfall of MOM occurs beyond this point, infants in the control group will receive PF.

Infants in both arms follow standard routine care. Human milk feeds (both MOM and DHM) are fortified with human milk fortifier once full feeds are achieved.

Randomisation

Infants are randomised with a secured, password protected web-based randomisation tool (www.sealedenvelope.com) using random permutated blocks and stratification incorporating the following strata: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no). Twins, triplets, and higher multiples are co-randomised to the same trial arm.

Data collection and management

Feeding data are collected prospectively on a daily basis by research team. Trained research team members perform measurements weekly on each infant at care times. Length is measured using Leicester Incubator Measure. Head, mid-arm, and thigh circumference are measured using single-use tape measure. Combined UK-WHO growth charts for preterm infants are used as a reference to calculate centiles and Z-scores. Trial completion is defined as reaching 36 weeks ca or earlier if infant is discharged home or to a postnatal ward. Data about neonatal morbidities are collected at this stage. Families are contacted via telephone

by research team members at around 6 and 12 weeks' time from discharge. Data about type of feeding, milk, recent weight, and head measurements are obtained. All data are recorded electronically, and confidential data are password secured.

Study Outcomes

Primary outcome

Any breastfeeding, or mother still actively expressing milk, at 36 weeks corrected age or discharge if this is earlier.

Secondary outcomes – growth, feeding and neonatal outcomes

- 1. Growth weekly weight, length, head, mid-arm and thigh circumference, absolute changes (g/kg/day and mm/week) and change in standard deviation score.
- 2. Neonatal morbidities:
 - a. Episodes of confirmed NEC Bell stage 2 or greater
 - b. LOS confirmed and clinically suspected according to existing case definitions (34)
 - c. Severe BPD (oxygen requirement or respiratory support at 36 weeks ca)
 - d. ROP worst stage and zone
 - e. Intraventricular haemorrhage worst grade recorded and/or cystic periventricular leukomalacia

- 3. Days of intensive, high, and low dependency care (35); ca at discharge, total length of stay (days)
- 4. Total volume (litres) of milk (MOM, DHM and formula) received from birth to 36 weeks ca
- 5. Age at starting breastmilk fortifier and number of days when fortifier is provided
- 6. Type of feeding at discharge (direct breast feeding, tube feeding etc.)
- 7. Type of milk and feeding, weight and head circumference at 6- and 12-weeks post discharge

Secondary outcomes – maternal questionnaires and qualitative data

A validated questionnaire, Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale – Short Form (BSES-SF) adapted for preterm infants (36), is given to mothers at two time points – around 10 days postnatal age and again at 36 weeks ca or prior to discharge if sooner. The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) questionnaire is also administered to mothers around day 10 postpartum (37). BSES-SF and EPDS scores will serve as a guide to ensure that mothers both spectrums (with scores in in the bottom and top quartile) will be represented in the subset chosen for interviews.

Qualitative interviews with mothers will be conducted to explore perceptions around DHM use and barriers and facilitators to expressing MOM. These one-to-one, in-person semi-structured interviews will be audio-recorded and transcribed. We estimate that 15-20 interviews will be recorded although final number of interviews will be determined by

thematic saturation generated through interpretation of data (38). Qualitative data will also inform whether an "RCT" design was problematic or unacceptable for mothers.

DHM is a complex intervention and its effect on breastfeeding has not been studied in RCTs.

Therefore, feasibility of RCT design to answer this research question will also be assessed.

Data on how many patients declined DHM, did not wish to enrol or were lost to follow up will be included. Protocol deviations frequency will be observed. This knowledge will provide data to design future definitive trials.

Hypothesis, sample size and power

We hypothesise that longer access to DHM (intervention) will improve the rate of breastfeeding at discharge from the local rate of 35% in our NICU to the UK average of 60%. Fifty-eight infants per trial group will be required to detect an improvement in breastfeeding rates at discharge from 35% to 60%. Assuming 10% of infants do not survive, at least 130 infants need to be recruited to complete the trial. We estimate that up to 20% of infants may be discharged before 36 weeks ca to other neonatal units that do not have access to DHM. We will therefore need to recruit between 130 and 156 infants-for the study to be powered at 80%, and we estimate this will take 18-24 months recruitment.

Analysis

Data will be analysed using an intention-to-treat approach. Additional analysis will be performed using breastfeeding outcome data for those completing the study (i.e., excluding transfers) and the first baby from a multiple pregnancy enrolled. Categorical data will be presented as counts and frequencies and will be compared using chi squared or Fisher exact

test as appropriate. Morbidities will use logistic regression. Continuous data will be presented as mean (SD) or median (IQR) and the Shapiro-Wilk test will be used to test the normality of the data. Group differences in continuous data will be compared using Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney U test for normally and non-normally distributed data respectively or quantile regression as appropriate. Feeding data will be compared using multinomial statistics. All tests will be performed two tailed and p<0.05 will be deemed statistically significant. Qualitative data will be analysed using reflexive thematic analysis (39).

Patient and Public Involvement

The study involved discussion with parents and is aligned with the James Lind alliance priority setting that identified feeding and nutrition as key areas for research in preterm infants. A trial steering committee including parents oversees trial conduct and progress. The trial is compliant with the UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative.

What is already known on this topic:

MOM benefits for preterm infants are well recognised but uncertainties remain around the optimal strategy for DHM use, especially whether it impacts-on breastfeeding. DHM is a complex intervention which has effects on infant health and maternal and healthcare staff behaviours and beliefs.

What this study adds:

This pilot RCT strives to determine if DHM provision affects breastfeeding rate at discharge and if RCT is a suitable design to answer this research question.

How this study might affect research, practice or policy:

A single RCT of a complex intervention is unlikely to resolve all uncertainties. Studies incorporating quantitative and qualitative methods may better elucidate the role of DHM in NICUs. HUMMINGBIRD may help optimise the design of future studies in larger scale.

ETHICS APPROVAL AND DISSEMINATION

Nottingham 2 Research Ethics Committee granted approval for HUMMINGBIRD Study on 6th April 2021 (IRAS Project ID 281071) and recruitment commenced on 7th June 2021. Results will be disseminated in peer-reviewed journals and discussed with Tiny Lives Charity and Bliss UK to consider the implications of findings.

COMPETING INTERESTS

NS is the cofounder of the Human Milk Foundation, a UK charity that provides donor human milk. NE and JB report research grants paid to their institution from National Institutes for Health Research, Action Medical Research, Prolacta Biosciences US, Danone Early Life Nutrition and NeoKare but received no personal fee, and have no other financial conflicts related to industry funding. NE reports lecture honoraria from Nestle Nutrition Institute donated to charity, and Astarte Medical.

FUNDING

This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial or not-for-profit sectors and was supported using internal departmental funds.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

NE had original idea for HUMMINGBIRD after discussions with NS and played a key role in developing the protocol. JB contributed to study design and protocol development. All authors contributed to the writing and review of this paper and gave final approval for its submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Not applicable.

REFERENCES

- 1. Statistics OfN. Birth characteristics in England and Wales: 2019 Office for National Statistics 2020 [cited 2022 11/11/2022]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/bulletins/birthcharacteristicsinenglandandwales/2019#gestational-age.
- 2. Santhakumaran S, Statnikov Y, Gray D, Battersby C, Ashby D, Modi N. Survival of very preterm infants admitted to neonatal care in England 2008–2014: time trends and regional variation. Archives of Disease in Childhood Fetal and Neonatal Edition. 2018;103(3):F208-F15.
- 3. Berrington JE, Hearn RI, Bythell M, Wright C, Embleton ND. Deaths in preterm infants: changing pathology over 2 decades. J Pediatr. 2012;160(1):49-53.e1.
- 4. Platt MJ. Outcomes in preterm infants. Public Health. 2014;128(5):399-403.
- 5. Embleton ND. Early nutrition and later outcomes in preterm infants. World Rev Nutr Diet. 2013;106:26-32.
- 6. Ziegler EE, Carlson SJ. Early nutrition of very low birth weight infants. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2009;22(3):191-7.

- 7. Agostoni C, Buonocore G, Carnielli VP, De Curtis M, Darmaun D, Decsi T, et al. Enteral nutrient supply for preterm infants: commentary from the European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition Committee on Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2010;50(1):85-91.
- 8. Sullivan S, Schanler RJ, Kim JH, Patel AL, Trawöger R, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U, et al. An exclusively human milk-based diet is associated with a lower rate of necrotizing enterocolitis than a diet of human milk and bovine milk-based products. J Pediatr. 2010;156(4):562-7.e1.
- 9. Patel AL, Johnson TJ, Engstrom JL, Fogg LF, Jegier BJ, Bigger HR, et al. Impact of early human milk on sepsis and health-care costs in very low birth weight infants. J Perinatol. 2013;33(7):514-9.
- 10. Villamor-Martínez E, Pierro M, Cavallaro G, Mosca F, Villamor E. Mother's Own Milk and Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Pediatr. 2019;7:224.
- 11. Ahrabi AF, Schanler RJ. Human milk is the only milk for premies in the NICU! Early Hum Dev. 2013;89 Suppl 2:S51-3.
- 12. Embleton NE, Pang N, Cooke RJ. Postnatal malnutrition and growth retardation: an inevitable consequence of current recommendations in preterm infants? Pediatrics. 2001;107(2):270-3.
- 13. Embleton ND. Optimal protein and energy intakes in preterm infants. Early Hum Dev. 2007;83(12):831-7.
- 14. Rozé JC, Darmaun D, Boquien CY, Flamant C, Picaud JC, Savagner C, et al. The apparent breastfeeding paradox in very preterm infants: relationship between breast feeding, early weight gain and neurodevelopment based on results from two cohorts, EPIPAGE and LIFT. BMJ Open. 2012;2(2):e000834.
- 15. El-Khuffash A, Lewandowski AJ, Jain A, Hamvas A, Singh GK, Levy PT. Cardiac Performance in the First Year of Age Among Preterm Infants Fed Maternal Breast Milk. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(8):e2121206.
- 16. Owen CG, Martin RM, Whincup PH, Smith GD, Cook DG. Effect of infant feeding on the risk of obesity across the life course: a quantitative review of published evidence. Pediatrics. 2005;115(5):1367-77.
- 17. National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) 2022 annual report on 2021 data2022 [cited 2022. Available from: https://nnap.rcpch.ac.uk/annual-reports.aspx.
- 18. Henderson JJ, Hartmann PE, Newnham JP, Simmer K. Effect of preterm birth and antenatal corticosteroid treatment on lactogenesis II in women. Pediatrics. 2008;121(1):e92-100.
- 19. Organization WH. Guidelines on optimal feeding of low birth-weight infants in low-and middle-income countries: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 20. Quigley M, Embleton ND, McGuire W. Formula versus donor breast milk for feeding preterm or low birth weight infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;6(6):Cd002971.
- 21. Zipitis CS, Ward J, Bajaj R. Use of donor breast milk in neonatal units in the UK. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2015;100(3):F279-81.
- 22. Battersby C, Longford N, Mandalia S, Costeloe K, Modi N. Incidence and enteral feed antecedents of severe neonatal necrotising enterocolitis across neonatal networks in England, 2012-13: a whole-population surveillance study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;2(1):43-51.
- 23. Williams T, Nair H, Simpson J, Embleton N. Use of Donor Human Milk and Maternal Breastfeeding Rates: A Systematic Review. J Hum Lact. 2016;32(2):212-20.

- 24. Kantorowska A, Wei JC, Cohen RS, Lawrence RA, Gould JB, Lee HC. Impact of Donor Milk Availability on Breast Milk Use and Necrotizing Enterocolitis Rates. Pediatrics. 2016;137(3):e20153123.
- 25. Parker LA, Cacho N, Engelmann C, Benedict J, Wymer S, Michael W, et al. Consumption of Mother's Own Milk by Infants Born Extremely Preterm Following Implementation of a Donor Human Milk Program: A Retrospective Cohort Study. J Pediatr. 2019;211:33-8.
- 26. Esquerra-Zwiers A, Schoeny ME, Engstrom J, Wicks J, Szotek J, Meier P, et al. The Interaction of Donor Human Milk Availability and Race/Ethnicity on Provision of Mother's Own Milk for Very Low Birth Weight Infants. Breastfeed Med. 2021;16(1):46-53.
- 27. Mondkar J, Chawla D, Sachdeva RC, Manerkar S, Shanbhag S, Khan A, et al. Impact of mother-baby friendly initiative plus approach on improving human milk feeding for neonates in hospital: a quality improvement before-and-after uncontrolled study. Eur J Pediatr. 2022;181(1):107-16.
- 28. Hay WW, Jr., Hendrickson KC. Preterm formula use in the preterm very low birth weight infant. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2017;22(1):15-22.
- 29. Masi AC, Embleton ND, Lamb CA, Young G, Granger CL, Najera J, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide DSLNT and gut microbiome in preterm infants predicts necrotising enterocolitis. Gut. 2021;70(12):2273-82.
- 30. Stewart CJ, Ajami NJ, O'Brien JL, Hutchinson DS, Smith DP, Wong MC, et al. Temporal development of the gut microbiome in early childhood from the TEDDY study. Nature. 2018;562(7728):583-8.
- 31. Zanganeh M, Jordan M, Mistry H. A systematic review of economic evaluations for donor human milk versus standard feeding in infants. Matern Child Nutr. 2021;17(2):e13151.
- 32. Health RCoPaC. National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) 2020 report on 2019 data. 2022.
- 33. Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. Bmj. 2021;374:n2061.
- 34. Dong Y, Speer CP. Late-onset neonatal sepsis: recent developments. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2015;100(3):F257-63.
- 35. Medicine BAoP. Categories of Care 2011 2011 [Available from: https://www.bapm.org/resources/34-categories-of-care-2011.
- 36. Wheeler BJ, Dennis CL. Psychometric testing of the modified breastfeeding self-efficacy scale (short form) among mothers of ill or preterm infants. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2013;42(1):70-80.
- 37. Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of postnatal depression. Development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. Br J Psychiatry. 1987;150:782-6.
- 38. Braun V, Clarke V. To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health. 2021;13(2):201-16.
- 39. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in psychology. 2006;3(2):77-101.

 \mathbf{O}

M

M

41

Inputs

MOTHERS/PARENTS

- Separation after admission to NICU
- Stress, postnatal depression
- Maternal health issues
- Pressure

HEALTH CARE STAFF

- · Workload and staffing issues
- · Personal attitudes and beliefs about nutritional strategies
- Level of experience and training

Processes

MOTHERS/PARENTS

- Antenatal and early postnatal counselling
- Adequate lactation support
- · Family Integrated Care

HEALTH CARE STAFF

- Education sessions
- Practice guidelines
- · Dedicated infant Feeding Team
- Funding

Outputs

803 on 7 March 2023. Downloaded

sopen.bmj.com/ on April 23, 2024 by guest. Pro

MOTHERS/PARENTS

- Consent for DHM use
- Information leaflets

HEALTH CARE STAFF

- Acceptance of new practices
- Integration into lactation support provision
- · Training and education
- Audit and evaluation/QI

 Increased MOM availability for preterm infants

SHORT-TERM

- Less formula use
- · Earlier enteral feeds and reduced PN use
- Increased awareness about milk donation

MID-TERM

Outcomes

- Improved breastfeeding rates at and after discharge
- Decreased rates of NEC and other neonatal morbidities
- Change in culture and beliefs of health care staff
- Improved parental wellbeing

LONG-TERM

- · Improved longterm outcomes for preterm infants
- Reduced economic costs associated with preterm birth
- · Normalisation of human milk and breastfeeding in society
 - Positive environmental impacts



Normalisation of breastfeeding

SOCIETY AND ENVIRONMENT

· Low breastfeeding rates

https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/bmjpo



Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study





Human MIlk, Nutrition, Growth, and Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Chief Investigator: Dr Nicholas D Embleton, Ward 35, Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle upon Tyne

NE1 4LP, UK

Nicholas.embleton@ncl.ac.uk

Sponsor: Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

IRAS Project ID: 281071

Sponsor Protocol number: NuTH 09735

Trial registration number: ISRCTN

REC reference number:

Investigator team

Dr Kristina Chmelova Trust doctor in Neonatal Medicine, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Janet Berrington Consultant Neonatal Paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals

Professor Judith Rankin Professor of Maternal and Child Health, Newcastle University

Ms Maria Douglass Infant feeding lead, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Stefan Zalewski Consultant Neonatal Paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Claire Granger Research Fellow in Neonatal Medicine, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Natalie Shenker UKRI Future Leaders Fellow, Imperial College London

Professor Nicholas Embleton Consultant Neonatal Paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals

Hummingbird HUMA, Joseph Mills, Brown Bridge, Browner Harden and Bertrem and Bertrem

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Contents

Trial Steering Committee (TSC)	3
Study proposal summary	3
Introduction	5
Use of donor human milk (DHM)	5
Current practice of DHM in the UK	7
Summary of key issues	7
Proposed study to explore impacts on breastfeeding	8
Secondary outcomes – growth and neonatal outcomes	8
Secondary outcomes – breastfeeding self-efficacy and thematic an	alysis of interviews9
Sample size and Power	9
Funding	10
Trial registration, Ethics, HRA and risk burden	10
Patient Public Involvement and importance to the NHS	10
Experience of research team members	11
References	12
Appendix 1: Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale – Short Form	15
Appendix 2: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)	15
Appendix 3: data items	18
Appendix 4: Patient Information Sheet (PIS)	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Appendix 5: Consent form	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Appendix 5: Topic guide for interviews	19

Humaing bird

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Trial Steering Committee (TSC)

Name	Role
TBC	Independent chair
Dr Nicholas Embleton	Chief Investigator
TBC	Parent
TBC	BFI/Advocacy rep
Maria Douglass	Breast feeding support nurse
Professor Judith Rankin	Co-investigator
Dr Janet Berrington	Co-investigator
Dr Stefan Zalewski	Co-investigator

Study proposal summary

This is the protocol proposal for a single site, non-blinded, randomised controlled trial exploring two currently used dietary regimes in preterm infants. The dietary regimes involve fully supporting mothers to provide their own expressed breast milk and using donor human milk to make up any shortfall in breastmilk supply. The primary outcome is maternal breastfeeding rates at discharge. Mothers of infants on ward 35 neonatal unit at the Royal Victoria Infirmary will be approached by clinical team members, and infants will be enrolled after signed informed consent. Infants do not undergo any additional interventions or tests, and all data used is routinely collected. Mothers will complete short questionnaires on two occasions and a subset invited to take part in qualitative interviews. The study intervention finishes at hospital discharge, but two telephone calls post-discharge will be made to ascertain duration of any prolonged breastfeeding

Title (Acronym)	Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, and Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge:
	The Hummingbird Study
Study centre	Ward 35, Newcastle Royal Victoria Infirmary. Additional sites may be
	added

Hammingbird NAME OF THE PLACE FOR SOME PROPERTY OF THE PLACE FOR THE PL

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Study objectives	To compare two dietary regimes that both use mother's own breastmilk and donor human milk to make up any volume shortfall
Study design	Randomised open label, controlled trial
Study population	 Preterm infants born <33 completed weeks of gestation or <1500g birthweight Admitted to neonatal unit in first week of life Written informed consent from parents Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth Exclusion criteria Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation
Interventions	Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk
Target number of patients	130-160 infants
Randomisation	Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar)
Primary outcomes	Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age
Secondary outcomes	Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)
Duration of trial intervention	36 weeks postmenstrual age or hospital discharge (which ever earlier)
Duration of study	Recruitment period: 18 months Total trial duration: 21 months

Philhas one Miles are Brustler the see Burstler

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

End of Trial	Discharge from neonatal unit at Newcastle
Safety assessments	Routine assessments until discharge from Ward 35 Neonatal Unit
	Safety tracking during hospitalisation

Introduction

Around 10% of all births are premature, but whilst the majority do not require specialist medical treatment, those born very preterm (<32 weeks gestation) require prolonged hospital stay including intensive care. Survival in these infants has increased dramatically in recent years, but death is still common (~10% overall) as are the consequences of life-long physical and cognitive impairment.¹ In the UK around 10,000 premature infants are born every year, representing an annual cost to the NHS of ~£3 billion.²

The commonest cause of death or serious illness in preterm infants after the first few days are gut complications such as necrotising enterocolitis (NEC) or septicaemia.³ Morbidity and mortality is lower in infants who receive mother's own expressed breastmilk (MOM) but >80% still require additional milk supplementation.⁴ This is because there is often a 'shortfall' in maternal milk supply either due to inadequate lactation, or because mothers choose to discontinue expressing breastmilk before infants' are discharged home. Over 90% of mother's now provide at least some breastmilk, but breastfeeding rates at discharge vary considerably from 30-80% depending on hospital.⁵ Low rates of breastfeeding are a major health concern, as there is strong evidence that breastfeeding throughout infancy is beneficial for cognitive and metabolic outcomes (e.g. obesity, high blood pressure etc.) in childhood and throughout the life-course.^{6,7}

Use of donor human milk (DHM)

When there is a shortfall in MOM supply, an alternative milk is needed, which is either formula milk, or pasteurised, donated, human milk (DHM). 6,8 DHM is provided from one of ~12 donor milk banks in the UK which collect milk from UK donors. DHM must be tested, pasteurised, frozen and transported to hospitals for use. Because of this DHM is much more expensive (£150/litre) than formula milk (£5/litre). Studies also suggest that DHM may be less beneficial than mother's own milk at reducing neonatal disease, and strong support for mothers to provide their own milk is universally accepted. 9



DHM has been widely used for >30 years in the NHS, but there is no national system for supply, and use varies dramatically: some clinical networks do not use it at all, whereas others provide it routinely to all preterm infants. No trial has ever been powered to determine a realistic reduction on rates of necrotising enterocolitis (NEC) or sepsis and such a trial would probably need to recruit at least 2500 infants. There have been no large UK trials of donor human milk in preterm infants ever, and no nationally agreed, evidenced based guidelines for use exist. The only two, recent, moderately sized (300-400 infants) RCTs showed differing effects. A Canadian trial showed no improvement on the primary outcome of cognitive outcome in infancy, although NEC was lower in a secondary analysis; however, there was no impact on survival. A larger Dutch trial showed no effect on death, NEC or sepsis (combined primary outcome) although DHM was only provided for the first 10 days of life. Our current Cochrane meta-analysis concluded that there is no evidence for a reduction in death, or any long-term benefits, but whilst NEC may be lower around 33 infants would need to receive DHM to prevent one case.

In the last 20 years we identified only 5 RCTs including just 1200 infants in total, of which only one study was conducted in Europe. No trials included a qualitative analysis and economic analyses was only conducted in one trial which showed no difference in costs to 18 months age. In the UK, the healthcare costs of DHM need to be considered in order to determine which infants should receive DHM. Inconsistent observational data suggest an impact of donor milk on breast feeding rates, but no trials reported the impact on continued breastfeeding at discharge. Our systematic review concluded that whilst there may be an impact on breastfeeding at discharge where DHM is used (perhaps by creating a more positive culture of breastfeeding), the effect was weak and inconsistent.

Whilst all neonatal units now strive to support mothers to provide breastmilk, proponents of DHM argue that it's use creates a more positive effect on mother's, as well as health professional belief and culture, will result in longer duration of breastmilk expression, and ultimately duration of breastfeeding. However, whilst there are observational data, this has never been tested in well-designed RCTs, and a recent systematic review determined the overall impact was equivocal. Nevertheless, increasing numbers of women, and support groups, now advocate for universal use of DHM in vulnerable infants throughout hospital stay, despite the lack of conclusive data and high-quality health economic evaluation. 16–18

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



Current practice of DHM in the UK

Despite the widespread use of DHM, indications and practical use varies widely between Neonatal Intensive Care Units (NICUs) and hospitals. Some NICUs restrict use to only those infants born <28 weeks whereas others provide to all infants <32-34 weeks or <1500g. Some hospitals also use DHM for term born infants with cardiac and gut conditions, and in some situations, parents have asked for DHM to be used in term born infants where maternal supply is inadequate. In the first few days when milk feeds are established in preterm infants only relatively small DHM volumes are required, but volume (and therefore costs) increase as the infant grows. Clinical practice in NICUs in the UK varies widely. 10,19,20 Some NICUs only use DHM until full milk feeds have been established. This is because most key events linked to feeding (sepsis, NEC and other severe illness) occur in the first 10 days. However, other units will use DHM until closer to discharge because some clinicians feel this is more likely to support longer term breast feeding.

A further challenge arises because human breast milk alone will not meet the nutrient requirements for preterm infants. ²¹ To meet the higher nutrient requirements of preterm infants, commercially produced breast-milk-fortifiers (BMF) are added to mothers' own milk or donor milk. Although human milk-based fortifiers are available these are not widely used outside the USA and are very expensive. ²² BMF is therefore produced from cow's milk and is therefore a similar product to cow's milk infant formula. Many clinicians feel that rather than adding BMF to donor milk it would be preferable to use a milk formula. ²⁰ This is because growth is slower in infants receiving DHM, and there are concerns that slow early growth may increase the risk of other problems, including worse cognitive outcomes. In addition, the continued use of DHM after full feeds are established in a typical preterm infant at 28 weeks born weighing 1000g, would cost around £1000-2000 more where the infant receives all DHM compared to infants receiving formula (in the situation where mothers do not provide any breastmilk).

Summary of key issues

In summary, use of donor human milk is commonplace in most UK neonatal units and despite the lack of a conclusive evidence base seems likely to remain a common choice for many clinicians where there is a shortfall in mothers' own milk. Most parents appear to favour use of DHM, and DHM is also strongly supported by advocacy groups including the WHO and UNICEF. There is no consistent approach to the use of DHM once feeds are established, and growth is faster when formula is used. DHM is also more expensive compared to formula. DHM may improve breastfeeding rates at discharge, and/or improve maternal self-efficacy for breast feeding, but if there are no additional



benefits from more prolonged use then resources may be better spent elsewhere, for example by employing more lactation specialists to support mothers to provide their own milk.

Proposed study to explore impacts on breastfeeding

The Hummingbird study is designed to compare two clinical dietary approaches, both of which are routinely used in the UK, by comparing the use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds (control) to that of using DHM for a longer duration up to the pre-discharge period (intervention).

- Setting: Tertiary level NICU on ward 35, Royal Victoria
- Population: preterm infants <33 weeks or <1500g admitted in the first 7 days of life
- Intervention: use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until 35-36 weeks corrected age (or the initiation of breast feeding)
- **Control**: use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds are achieved (tolerating 150mls/kg/day for 48 hours) and use of preterm formula milk to make up shortfall thereafter
- **Primary outcome**: any breastfeeding at 36 weeks corrected age or hospital discharge if this is earlier. This outcome is also met if a mother is still actively expressing breastmilk which the infant receives wholly or in part via a bottle/
- Study design: non-blinded randomised controlled trial
- Timeframe: until 36 weeks corrected gestation or hospital discharge is earlier

Currently around 90-95% of our mother's start expression of breastmilk for their baby, but only 35% are still providing breastmilk at discharge compared to the national average of 60%. The rate in the North East of England is around the lowest in the UK. Mothers who choose or are unable to continue providing MOM may do this at any point in time after they have started. Because this study is designed to impact on breastfeeding at discharge, infants in the intervention group will only continue to receive DHM if their mother is still continuing to provide breastmilk. Where the infant has not received any mother's own breastmilk for 1 week, or where the mother has told clinical staff she is no longer expressing, we will discontinue use of DHM, and the baby will receive a standard formula milk designed for preterm infants.

Secondary outcomes – growth and neonatal outcomes

We will collect a range of relevant common neonatal secondary outcomes:

1. Growth – weekly weight, length and head circumference, mid-arm/thigh where feasible, absolute changes (g/kg/day and mm/week) and change in standard deviation score

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



- 2. Episodes of NEC, sepsis confirmed and clinically suspected according to existing nationally agreed case definitions
- 3. Chronic lung disease, Retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), Intraventricular haemorrhage, Cystic PVL etc.
- 4. Days of intensive, high and low dependency care; age at discharge, total length of stay
- 5. Total volume (litres) of milk (MOM, DHM and formula) received from birth to 36 weeks
- 6. Age at starting fortifier
- 7. Type of feeding at discharge (direct breast feeding, tube feeding etc.)

Secondary outcomes – breastfeeding self-efficacy and thematic analysis of interviews

We will use a mixed methods approach to determine maternal breastfeeding self-efficacy expression and conduct qualitative interviews in a subset of up to 20 mothers. We will use two short validated questionnaires – the Breast-feeding Self-efficacy Scale – Short form (BSES-SF)^{24,25} and the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale²⁶ - at two time points: between 5-10 days of age and again at 35-36wca or prior to discharge if sooner. These only take around 1-2 minutes to complete. We will use the BSES-SF scores to identify women in the top and bottom quartiles of scores and invite up to 10 women per trial group to take part in a qualitative tape-recorded interview. This will be transcribed and analysed using thematic analysis. We will develop a topic guide based on the questions on the BSE-SF and our experience (see appendix). Interviews will be conducted by a single member of the research team (KC) shortly before or after hospital discharge. We will seek consent to keep in touch with parents after discharge. We will also ask for consent to keep in telephone contact with mothers who are breastfeeding at discharge at 1-2 monthly intervals in order to simply ascertain duration of breastfeeding.

Sample size and Power

We hypothesise that prolonged use of DHM will improve the rate of breastfeeding at discharge from 35% to the UK national average of 60%. Fifty-eight infants per trial group would be required to detect an improvement in breastfeeding rates at discharge from 35% to 60%. Assuming 10% of infants do not survive we will need to recruit at least 130 infants who are still receiving care at the RVI at ~36 weeks corrected age (wca). We estimate that up to 20% of infants may be discharged before 36wca to a local hospital that does not have continued access to DHM. We will therefore need to recruit between 130 and 156 infants in order that we are powered to determine the primary outcome. The NICU on ward 35 admits ~160 babies every year <1500g or <33 weeks of whom we expected around 80% of infants will be enrolled (based on previous RCTs we conducted). Therefore, we estimate we will need a 12-18 months recruitment period so we can enrol at least 130 infants who achieve the primary outcome. Twins and triplets will be co-randomised to the same trial arm. We will analyse the data for all infants



using an intention-to-treat approach, but we will perform additional analysis only using breastfeeding outcome data for the first twin enrolled.

Funding

This trial will use dietary treatments already used in this way on the neonatal unit and collect routinely available electronic clinical data extracted from e-record and Badger neonatal database and inputted into an excel worksheet. There are no costs for use of questionnaires. Trial recruitment, consenting and interviews will be conducted by a member of clinical staff who has time available as part of daily activities (KC) supported by the neonatal research nurse. Costs for ISRCTN registration, printing, paperwork, tape recording, transcription, and travel costs for membership of the TSC will be met out of existing departmental research funds.

Trial registration, Ethics, HRA and risk burden

The trial will be registered on ISRCTN prior to opening. We will apply for HRA and REC approvals and apply for adoption onto the NIHR portfolio. There are no specific ethical issues with this trial, but we recognise the additional burden placed on parents by being asked to consider trial enrolment. There are no additional safety issues as part of the trial per SeUse of donor breastmilk could be associated with theoretical risks (although none have been documented) or inadvertent use of the 'wrong' milk, but donor milk is already used in routine practice and this trial does not increase the risk. No additional interventions or tests are applied to infants as part of the trial. The questionnaires do ask sensitive information but only members of the clinical team will see the responses and will already be aware of important family and mental health issues as part of routine family centred care on the neonatal unit. Where the mother wishes, we will use the questionnaire responses to provide further targeted support to help her. The trial is fully compliant with national recommendations and Baby Friendly Initiative (BFI) part of UNICEF.

Patient Public Involvement and importance to the NHS

We have discussed this study with parents on the neonatal unit, and other parents after discharge. Parents tell us that the risks and complication associated with feeding preterm infants, and the stress of being able to provide breastmilk for their infant are very important issues. In addition, the James Lind alliance (JLA) priority setting www.jla.nihr.ac.uk/priority-setting-partnerships/preterm-birth/top-10-priorities/ identifies feeding and nutrition as very important. Our study focuses on key JLA priorities (i) what is the optimum milk feeding strategy (ii) what type of support is most effective in improving breastfeeding and will provide additional information relevant for a further 2 additional priorities (iii) how can infection be better prevented (iv) what interventions are most effective at preventing NEC. This trial is of major relevance to the NHS and studies interventions and outcomes highlighted in a recent top research priority setting in preterm infants.²⁷ Breastfeeding is a major national priority and



is an intervention that has potential to benefit marginalised and poorly resourced groups. Breastfeeding support in the community is essential to continued successful breastfeeding but is recognised as being inadequate in many settings. NEC is a devastating condition, and half of the infants requiring surgery die or have long-term serious disability. Donor human milk is an important cost for the NHS, but the total costs of DHM even for a large NICU will still be substantially less than the costs associated with a single episode of surgical NEC. We will invite a parent to join the TSC and invite an additional independent member to the TSC from a charity or parent advocacy organisation. We will liaise with Tiny Lives charity and Bliss UK to consider the implications of our trial findings and disseminate the results.

Experience of research team members

We are an experienced research team, having recruited more than 1000 preterm infants to trials and studies in the last 10 years, including qualitative exploration of sensitive issue in parents whose babies did not survive. We are recognised internationally for our work on feeding and nutrition, and associated complications such as necrotising enterocolitis. We have worked closely with parents on all our studies (see above).



References

- 1. March of Dimes, PMNCH, Save the Children W. Born too soon. Born Too Soon, Glob Action Rep Preterm Birth Eds CP Howson, MV Kinney, JE Lawn World Heal Organ Geneva [Internet]. 2012;13(5):1–126. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23911366
- 2. Khan KA, Petrou S, Dritsaki M, Johnson SJ, Manktelow B, Draper ES, et al. Economic costs associated with moderate and late preterm birth: A prospective population-based study. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;122(11):1495–505.
- 3. Berrington JE, Hearn RI, Bythell M, Wright C, Embleton ND. Deaths in preterm infants: Changing pathology over 2 decades. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 2];160(1):49-53.e1. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.06.046
- 4. Quigley M, Embleton ND, McGuire W. Formula versus donor breast milk for feeding preterm or low birht weight infants (Review) in press. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;
- 5. Stiles S, De Rooy L. Breastfeeding rates at discharge: Don't blame the fortifier! A national survey of practice and comparison with NNAP data. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2018;103(6):597–8.
- 6. Menon G, Williams TC. Human milk for preterm infants: why, what, when and how? Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed [Internet]. 2013;98(6):F559-62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23893267
- 7. Quigley M a, Hockley C, Carson C, Kelly Y, Renfrew MJ, Sacker A. Breastfeeding is associated with improved child cognitive development: a population-based cohort study. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 21];160(1):25–32. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21839469
- 8. Renfrew MJ, Craig D, Dyson L, McCormick F, Rice S, King SE, et al. Breastfeeding promotion for infants in neonatal units: a systematic review and economic analysis. Health Technol Assess [Internet]. 2009 Aug [cited 2015 Jan 2];13(40):1–146, iii–iv. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19728934
- 9. Corpeleijn WE, de Waard M, Christmann V, van Goudoever JB, Jansen-van der Weide MC, Kooi EMW, et al. Effect of Donor Milk on Severe Infections and Mortality in Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants. JAMA Pediatr [Internet]. 2016;1–8. Available from: http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0183
- 10. Zipitis CS, Ward J, Bajaj R. Use of donor breast milk in neonatal units in the UK. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed [Internet]. 2014 Dec 24 [cited 2015 Jan 2];0(0):24–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25540146
- 11. Unger S, Gibbins S, Zupancic J, O'Connor DL. DoMINO: Donor milk for improved neurodevelopmental outcomes. BMC Pediatr [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 12];14(1):123. Available from:
 - http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4032387&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract
- 12. O'Connor DL, Gibbins S, Kiss A, Bando N, Brennan-Donnan J, Ng E, et al. Effect of Supplemental Donor Human Milk Compared With Preterm Formula on Neurodevelopment of Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants at 18 Months. Jama [Internet]. 2016;316(18):1897. Available from:

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



- http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jama.2016.16144
- 13. Corpeleijn WE, de Waard M, Christmann V, van Goudoever JB, Jansen-van der Weide MC, Kooi EMW, et al. Effect of Donor Milk on Severe Infections and Mortality in Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants: The Early Nutrition Study Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Pediatr [Internet]. 2016;1–8. Available from:
 - http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0183%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27135598
- 14. Parker LA, Cacho N, Engelmann C, Benedict J, Wymer S, Michael W, et al. Consumption of Mother's Own Milk by Infants Born Extremely Preterm Following Implementation of a Donor Human Milk Program: A Retrospective Cohort Study. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2019; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2019.03.040
- 15. Williams T, Nair H, Simpson J, Embleton N. Use of Donor Human Milk and Maternal Breastfeeding Rates: A Systematic Review. J Hum Lact. 2015;32(2).
- 16. Carroll K. Body dirt or liquid gold? How the "safety" of donated breastmilk is constructed for use in neonatal intensive care. Soc Stud Sci [Internet]. 2014;44(3):466–85. Available from: http://sss.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0306312714521705
- 17. Simmer K, Hartmann B. The knowns and unknowns of human milk banking. Early Hum Dev [Internet]. 2009 Nov [cited 2015 Jan 2];85(11):701–4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19766412
- 18. Zupancic JAF, Unger S, Kiss A, Bando N, Trang S, Gibbins S, et al. Cost- E ffectiveness of Supplemental Donor Milk Versus Formula for Very Low Birth Weight Infants abstract. 2018;141(3).
- 19. Klingenberg C, Embleton ND, Jacobs SE, O'Connell L a F, Kuschel C a. Enteral feeding practices in very preterm infants: an international survey. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 2];97(1):F56-61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21856644
- 20. Embleton ND, Barnett D, Oates C, Griffiths J, Simpson JH, Smith H, et al. British Association of Perinatal Medicine The Use of Donor Human Expressed Breast Milk in Newborn Infants A Framework for Practice. 2016;(July):1–3.
- 21. Young L, Embleton ND, McCormick FM, McGuire W, Lauren Y, D EN, et al. Multinutrient fortification of human breast milk for preterm infants following hospital discharge. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2013;2(2):CD004866. Available from: http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed11&NEWS=N&AN=234505 56%5Cnhttp://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD004866.pub4/abstract
- 22. Sullivan S, Schanler RJ, Kim JH, Patel AL, Trawöger R, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U, et al. An exclusively human milk-based diet is associated with a lower rate of necrotizing enterocolitis than a diet of human milk and bovine milk-based products. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2014 Dec 23];156(4):562-7.e1. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20036378
- 23. Wilson E, Edstedt Bonamy A-K, Bonet M, Toome L, Rodrigues C, Howell EA, et al. Room for improvement in breast milk feeding after very preterm birth in Europe: Results from the EPICE cohort. Matern Child Nutr [Internet]. 2017;(December 2016):e12485. Available from:



- http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/mcn.12485
- 24. Wheeler BJ, Dennis CL. Psychometric Testing of the Modified Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale (Short Form) Among Mothers of Ill or Preterm Infants. JOGNN - J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2013;42(1):70-80.
- 25. Brockway M, Benzies KM, Carr E, Aziz K. Breastfeeding self-efficacy and breastmilk feeding for moderate and late preterm infants in the Family Integrated Care trial: A mixed methods protocol. Int Breastfeed J. 2018;13(1):1-11.
- 26. Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of Postnatal Depression. Br J Psychiatry. 1987;150(6):782-6.
- in t.
 3(1):1-1.
 Jetection of .

 we S, David AL, James
 dion partnership between
 BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 20. Oliver S, Uhm S, Duley L, Crowe S, David AL, James CP, et al. Top research priorities for preterm 27. birth: Results of a prioritisation partnership between people affected by preterm birth and healthcare professionals. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1):1-10.



Appendix 1: Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale – Short Form

²⁴Wheeler et al. 2013

Original Items

I can....

- 1. Determine that my baby is getting enough milk
- 2. Successfully cope with the breastfeeding situation (pumping and actual breastfeeding) like I have with other challenging tasks
- 3. Breastfeed my baby without using formula as a supplement
- 4. Ensure that my baby is properly latched on for the whole feeding
- 5. Manage the breastfeeding situation to my satisfaction
- 6. Manage to breastfeed even if my baby is crying
- 7. Keep wanting to breastfeed
- 8. Comfortably breastfeed with my family members present
- 9. Be satisfied with my breastfeeding experience
- 10. Deal with the fact that pumping and breastfeeding can be time consuming
- 11. Finish feeding my baby on one breast before switching to the other breast
- 12. Continue to breastfeed my baby for every feeding
- 13. Manage to keep up with my baby's breastfeeding demands
- 14. Tell when my baby is finished breastfeeding

Additional Items

- 1. Pump enough milk for my baby
- 2. Get help with breastfeeding if or when I need it
- 3. Determine when my baby needs to be fed
- 4. Switch from mostly pumping to mostly or completely breastfeeding my baby

Appendix 2: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)

²⁶Cox et al.

I have been able to laugh and see the funny side of things.



	The Hummingbird Study
. O . O . O	As much as I always could Not quite so much now Definitely not so much now Not at all soked forward with enjoyment to things.
. 0	As much as I ever did Rather less than I used to Definitely less than I used to Hardly at all
2 I have b	Yes, most of the time Yes, some of the time Not very often No, never
I have be	een anxious or worried for no good reason. No not at all Hardly ever Yes, sometimes Yes, very often

I have felt scared or panicky for no very good reason.

• Yes, quite a lot



•	0	Yes, sometimes
•	0	No, not much

- No, not at all
- Things have been getting on top of me.
 - Yes, most of the time I haven't been able to cope at all
 - Yes, sometimes I haven't been coping as well as usual
 - No, most of the time I have coped quite well
 - No, I have been coping as well as ever
- I have been so unhappy that I have had difficulty sleeping.
 - Yes, most of the time
 - Yes, sometimes
 - Not very often
 - No, not at all
- I have felt sad or miserable.
 - Yes, most of the time
 - Yes, sometimes
 - Not very often
 - No, not at all
- $\ensuremath{\mathbb{I}}$ I have been so unhappy that I have been crying.
 - Yes, most of the time
 - Yes, quite often



- Only occasionally
- No, never

The thought of harming myself has occurred to me.

- Yes, quite often
- Sometimes
- Hardly ever
- Never

Appendix 3: data items

We will use standard definitions of disease and outcomes refined and validated in our previous studies to collect data including

- Standardized forms for: NEC/gut complications; sepsis; ROP grade and treatment at discharge;
 CLD at 36w; presence of IVH/PVL or PDA requiring treatment
- Day of first milk feed; receipt of buccal colostrum
- Time to full feeds sustained for 3 days; days of nil by mouth; age at first use of DHM, fortifier and formula milk
- Postnatal age at last breastmilk expression, first day of feeding from the breast, postnatal age at last received MOM, age at last breast feed (telephone report post-discharge)
- Maternal demographics: postcode/SES, age, parity, previous breastfeeding, previous breastfeeding for at least 3 months, smoking, major maternal disease e.g. diabetes etc.
- Validated questionnaire for breastfeeding self-efficacy (BSES)
- Validated questionnaire Edinburgh postnatal depression score (EPND)
- Costs associated with length of stay (days) for each category of care (intensive, high and low dependency) estimated using NHS HRGs
- Costs of DHM provided by Hearts Milk Bank includes transport, storage at site etc.



Appendix 4: Topic guide for interviews

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge:

The Hummingbird Study

Parent Topic Guide for Interviews

Interviewer extends a special thanks to the mother for agreeing to take part in the research. Explain that the aims of the study are to seek the views and experiences about aspects of breastfeeding support and use of human donor milk. Reassure that it is OK for anyone else, including the father, to be present if the mother wishes. Make the point that she doesn't have to answer all questions.

Interviewer introduces herself and outlines the study

Explain use of the audio recorder – the interview is being audio recorded so I have an accurate account of what the participant has said and so that I don't have to take handwritten notes. Interviews will be anonymised when they are typed up prior to analysis (i.e. their names and any other information that could identify them are taken out.)

- Assure confidentiality.
- Ask whether they have any more questions about the study?
- Check they have signed the consent form and are happy
- Explain that the interview can be ended or postponed at any time.

Introduction

Can you tell me a little about how your baby is getting on at present?

Feelings and support before and after birth

- Did you think about breastfeeding before your baby was born?
- Have you breast fed before, or been to any antenatal classes on breastfeeding?
- Did having a premature baby change what you thought or felt?

Patient Information

- Did anyone speak to you about expressing breastmilk shortly after the birth?
- Do you think you were given enough information or support?
- Did you feel empowered to make an informed decision or did you feel pressurised?
- In what ways could the information or support you were given be improved?
 - explanations
 - information to read
 - o other?

Feelings and support whilst on the NICU

Hummingbird Protocol v1.1 | 01/12/2020 | IRAS 281071



- Do you think the staff were sensitive to your opinions and any challenges you had?
- What could staff have done to improve support for you?
- Did you feel supported by friends, partners and other family members?
- Looking back, how do you feel your experience of providing breastmilk was for this baby?
- What do you think about the use of human donor milk or formula milk?
- Would you have preferred your baby to receive donor milk for longer?
- If money (NHS costs) was not an issue, do you think other babies should be offered donor milk if the mum is struggling to breast feed? E.g. a term baby where the mother is unwell, or has a poor milk supply?

End of interview

I have reached the end of my questions. Is there anything you would like to add? How did you feel about the interview?

- Are there any questions you would like to ask me about the study?
- Thank them for giving up their time and supporting the study.
- Ask them if they still agree for the interview to be analysed.

Explain they can find a summary of the findings on the website www.neonatalresearch.net at the end of the study.

BMJ Paediatrics Open

A protocol for a pilot randomised controlled trial exploring human milk, nutrition, growth, and breastfeeding rates at discharge: The Hummingbird study

Journal:	BMJ Paediatrics Open
Manuscript ID	bmjpo-2022-001803.R2
Article Type:	Protocol
Date Submitted by the Author:	09-Feb-2023
Complete List of Authors:	Chmelova, Kristina; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Unit; Newcastle University, Berrington, Janet; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Department; Newcastle University Shenker, Natalie; Imperial College London Institute of Reproductive and Developmental Biology, Department of Surgery and Cancer; Rothamsted Research Zalewski, Stefan; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Department Rankin, Judith; Newcastle University Embleton, Nick; Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Neonatal Department; Newcastle University
Keywords:	Neonatology, Qualitative research, Growth
	·

SCHOLARONE™ Manuscripts



I, the Submitting Author has the right to grant and does grant on behalf of all authors of the Work (as defined in the below author licence), an exclusive licence and/or a non-exclusive licence for contributions from authors who are: i) UK Crown employees; ii) where BMJ has agreed a CC-BY licence shall apply, and/or iii) in accordance with the terms applicable for US Federal Government officers or employees acting as part of their official duties; on a worldwide, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free basis to BMJ Publishing Group Ltd ("BMJ") its licensees and where the relevant Journal is co-owned by BMJ to the co-owners of the Journal, to publish the Work in this journal and any other BMJ products and to exploit all rights, as set out in our licence.

The Submitting Author accepts and understands that any supply made under these terms is made by BMJ to the Submitting Author unless you are acting as an employee on behalf of your employer or a postgraduate student of an affiliated institution which is paying any applicable article publishing charge ("APC") for Open Access articles. Where the Submitting Author wishes to make the Work available on an Open Access basis (and intends to pay the relevant APC), the terms of reuse of such Open Access shall be governed by a Creative Commons licence – details of these licences and which Creative Commons licence will apply to this Work are set out in our licence referred to above.

Other than as permitted in any relevant BMJ Author's Self Archiving Policies, I confirm this Work has not been accepted for publication elsewhere, is not being considered for publication elsewhere and does not duplicate material already published. I confirm all authors consent to publication of this Work and authorise the granting of this licence.

Page 2 of 38

Hummingbird study

A protocol for a pilot randomised controlled trial exploring human milk,

nutrition, growth, and breastfeeding rates at discharge: The

Hummingbird study

Kristina Chmelova¹², Janet Berrington¹³, Natalie Shenker^{4,5}, Stefan Zalewski¹, Judith Rankin², Nicholas Embleton¹²

- 1 Neonatal Department, Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
- 2 Population Health Sciences Institute, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
- 3 Clinical and Translational Research Institute, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne,
- 4 Department of Surgery and Cancer, Imperial College London, IRDB, Du Cane Road, London UK
- 5 Human Milk Foundation, Rothamsted Institute, Hertfordshire, UK

Corresponding author: Nicholas Embleton, Neonatal Department, Newcastle upon Tyne
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK,

email: Nicholas.embleton@newcastle.ac.uk

ABSTRACT

UK

Introduction

Mother's own breast milk (MOM) is the optimal nutrition for preterm infants as it reduces the incidence of key neonatal morbidities and improves long-term outcomes. However, MOM shortfall is common and either preterm formula or pasteurised donor human milk (DHM) may be used, although practice varies widely. Limited data suggest that the use of DHM may impact maternal beliefs and behaviours and therefore breastfeeding rates. The aim of this pilot study is to determine if a longer duration of DHM exposure increases breastfeeding rates, and if a randomised controlled trial (RCT) design is feasible.

Methods and analysis

The Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, and Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge (HUMMINGBIRD) study is a feasibility and pilot, non-blinded RCT with a contemporaneous qualitative evaluation. Babies born less than 33 weeks gestation or with birth weight <1500 grams whose mothers intend to provide MOM are randomly assigned to either control (DHM used to make up shortfall until full feeds and preterm formula thereafter) or intervention (DHM used for shortfall until 36 weeks corrected age or discharge if sooner). The primary outcome is breastfeeding at discharge. Secondary outcomes include growth, neonatal morbidities, length of stay, breastfeeding self-efficacy and postnatal depression using validated questionnaires. Qualitative interviews using a topic guide will explore perceptions around use of DHM and analysed using thematic analysis.

Ethics approval and dissemination

Nottingham 2 Research Ethics Committee granted approval (IRAS Project ID 281071) and recruitment commenced on 7th June 2021. Results will be disseminated in peer-reviewed journals.

Trial registration: Trial was registered prospectively on 4th May 2021 (ISRCTN 57339063).

INTRODUCTION

Approximately 60,000 babies are born prematurely (<37 weeks) in the UK each year and around 10,000 babies are born very preterm (<32 weeks' gestation) (1). While survival rates of extremely preterm (<28 weeks) infants have improved recently, serious adverse outcomes including late onset sepsis (LOS) and necrotising enterocolitis (NEC) remain common (2, 3). Preterm infants are at significant risk of long-term complications including retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) and cognitive impairment (4). Nutritional management impacts short and long-term outcomes (5) but remains challenging as macronutrient intakes can be hard to meet (6).

Mother's own milk

Mother's own milk (MOM) provides the basis of the optimal diet for preterm babies due to its composition including key proteins and lipids, as well as enzymes, growth factors and other unique dyad-specific bioactive nutrients such as human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) (7). Use of MOM is associated with a dose-response decreased risk of neonatal morbidities such as NEC, LOS, and BPD (8-11). Whilst an exclusive MOM diet has been associated with slower growth compared to preterm formula (PF) (12, 13), cognitive, cardiac, and metabolic outcomes are better (14-16).

Challenges of expressing MOM and breastfeeding in NICU

Despite well recognised benefits of MOM, low breastfeeding rates remain a major health concern. Over 90% of mothers delivering prematurely now provide some breastmilk, but breastfeeding rates at discharge vary considerably across the UK (25-91%)(17). Mothers of preterm babies must cope with the stress of having a preterm, sick infant and maintain

breastmilk expression for several weeks. Furthermore, the initiation of lactogenesis is often impaired after preterm birth (18), and despite targeted support, infants require additional milk at some stage (17).

Donor Human Milk

The World Health Organisation, American Association for Pediatrics and European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition recommend the use of donor human milk (DHM) for feeding premature infants as a first alternative when there is a MOM shortfall (7, 19), despite few high-quality RCTs and heterogeneity of studies. A recent Cochrane review suggested that DHM may reduce the risk of NEC compared to preterm formula (PF), with at least 33 infants needing to receive DHM to prevent one NEC case. The data do not support a reduction in mortality or longer-term neurodevelopmental benefits (20). Differences in DHM use exist amongst UK NICUs (21), with some only providing DHM for the first 10 days whereas other units use DHM for closer until discharge. Variation between NICU maybe linked to uncertainties around DHM use including whether DHM affects duration of breastmilk expression or breastfeeding (22). A systematic review showed that DHM may have a positive effect on any breastfeeding but rates of exclusive breastfeeding on discharge are unchanged (23). A large observational study in 56 NICUs in the USA showed increased rates of breastfeeding in NICUs where a DHM programme was implemented, along with a decrease in NEC rate (24). In contrast, another single-centre retrospective study showed that MOM provision decreased following the implementation of a donor milk program and-preterm infants consumed less MOM in the first 14 days in the post-DHM cohort (25). Esquerra-Zwiers showed similarly reduced MOM use in the first 14 days of life with DHM availability. However, in this study enteral feeds were commenced

earlier, and infants were exposed to formula later in life in after DHM introduction (26). More recently, DHM used in addition to optimising breastfeeding support and kangaroo care led to improved exclusive human milk feeding (27). To date, no RCT has studied the relationship between donor milk availability and breastfeeding at hospital discharge.

Preterm formula

The composition of PF is designed to meet the high-nutrient demands of the preterm infant and results in improved weight gain, linear and head growth (20). However, no RCTs have shown improved long-term growth or neurodevelopmental outcomes compared to use of MOM or DHM (20, 28). PF may provide a more consistent delivery of macro- and micro-nutrients but generally lacks bioactive component, which might be key in reducing disease and improving long-term outcomes (29, 30). The cost of PF (around £5 per litre) is almost 30-fold lower than the cost of DHM (between £125-150 per litre). However, systematic review of economic evaluations of DHM determine it is a cost-effective intervention because it reduced occurrence of NEC by two thirds compared to formula (31).

Summary of key issues: donor human milk as a 'complex intervention'

Whilst MOM is the optimal source of nutrition for preterm infants, rates of breastmilk feeding could be improved. Around 90-95% of mothers in the North East start breastmilk expression, but only 35% still provide breastmilk at discharge compared to the national average of 60% (32). Improving availability of MOM is crucial to reducing key neonatal morbidities. DHM use is increasing in most UK neonatal units and is recommended by ESPGHAN when there is a MOM shortfall (7). However, because DHM may affect growth, the optimal strategy for improving lifelong health remains uncertain. Observational data

show that DHM availability is associated with breastmilk expression and breastfeeding duration suggesting that DHM affects beliefs and behaviours of mothers and perhaps healthcare staff, and DHM is therefore a 'complex intervention'. Complex interventions in healthcare influence biology (i.e. health and disease) as well as behaviour and belief (e.g., breastfeeding rates). Complex interventions may have multiple relevant outcomes and mechanistic causal pathways; and may be affected by context e.g. NICUs with differing background rates of NEC or breastfeeding. Like many other complex interventions, there is a long lag time between dietary interventions such as DHM and outcomes, e.g. metabolism and cognition in adulthood (33).

Provision of DHM may be the best example of a complex intervention in neonatal medicine, and uncertainties around the optimal strategy are unlikely to be resolved with a single RCT. We designed this pilot trial to determine the foundation for further trials that can investigate the optimal implementation and use of DHM (Figure 1).

METHODS AND ANALYSIS

The HUMMINGBIRD study is a randomised open-label controlled trial in two tertiary neonatal units in the North East of England, the second site being added in May 2022. It is designed to compare two different nutritional strategies both of which use DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM for preterm infants, but provided until two points of time – full feeds vs 36 weeks corrected age (ca) (Table 1).

Setting	Tertiary level NICUs in North East England
Danielatian	Preterm infants <33 weeks or with a birth weight <1500g admitted in the
Population	first seven days of life

Intervention	Use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until 36 weeks corrected age
	(or discharge if this comes earlier)
Control	Use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds are achieved
	(tolerating 150mls/kg/day for 48 hours)
Design Pilot randomised open-label controlled trial	
Timeframe	Until 36 weeks corrected gestation or hospital discharge if earlier

Table 1. Summary of study methods

Population

Infants born before 33 completed weeks of gestation or with a birth weight of less than 1500 g whose mothers intend to express breastmilk after delivery and are willing to accept DHM are eligible. Only infants with written informed consent from parents and randomised within seven days of birth can be included. Infants who were born with major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities or who were exposed to formula milk prior to randomisation are excluded.

Intervention: DHM to 36 weeks

DHM is used to make up any shortfall in MOM until 36 weeks ca. If infants do not experience any shortfall, they will continue to receive MOM. This study aims to assess the effect of DHM on breastfeeding at discharge, therefore infants in the intervention group will only continue to receive DHM if their mother is still expressing breastmilk. Where the infant has not received any MOM for one week, or where the mother has told clinical staff she stopped expressing, the use of DHM will be discontinued and the baby will receive PF.

Control: DHM until full feeds only

DHM is used to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds are achieved (tolerating 150mls/kg/day for 48 hours). If a shortfall of MOM occurs beyond this point, infants in the control group will receive PF.

Infants in both arms follow standard routine care. Human milk feeds (both MOM and DHM) are fortified with human milk fortifier once full feeds are achieved.

Randomisation

Infants are randomised with a secured, password protected web-based randomisation tool (www.sealedenvelope.com) using random permutated blocks and stratification incorporating the following strata: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no). Twins, triplets, and higher multiples are co-randomised to the same trial arm.

Data collection and management

Feeding data are collected prospectively on a daily basis by research team. Trained research team members perform measurements weekly on each infant at care times. Length is measured using Leicester Incubator Measure. Head, mid-arm, and thigh circumference are measured using single-use tape measure. Combined UK-WHO growth charts for preterm infants are used as a reference to calculate centiles and Z-scores. Trial completion is defined as reaching 36 weeks ca or earlier if infant is discharged home or to a postnatal ward. Data about neonatal morbidities are collected at this stage. Families are contacted via telephone

by research team members at around 6 and 12 weeks' time from discharge. Data about type of feeding, milk, recent weight, and head measurements are obtained. All data are recorded electronically, and confidential data are password secured.

Study Outcomes

Primary outcome

Any breastfeeding, or mother still actively expressing milk, at 36 weeks corrected age or discharge if this is earlier.

Secondary outcomes – growth, feeding and neonatal outcomes

- 1. Growth weekly weight, length, head, mid-arm and thigh circumference, absolute changes (g/kg/day and mm/week) and change in standard deviation score.
- 2. Neonatal morbidities:
 - a. Episodes of confirmed NEC Bell stage 2 or greater
 - b. LOS confirmed and clinically suspected according to existing case definitions (34)
 - c. Severe BPD (oxygen requirement or respiratory support at 36 weeksca)
 - d. ROP worst stage and zone
 - e. Intraventricular haemorrhage worst grade recorded and/or cystic periventricular leukomalacia

- 3. Days of intensive, high, and low dependency care (35); ca at discharge, total length of stay (days)
- Total volume (litres) of milk (MOM, DHM and formula) received from birth to
 weeks ca
- 5. Age at starting breastmilk fortifier and number of days when fortifier is provided
- 6. Type of feeding at discharge (direct breast feeding, tube feeding etc.)
- 7. Type of milk and feeding, weight and head circumference at 6- and 12-weeks post discharge

Secondary outcomes – feasibility data

DHM is a complex intervention and its effect on breastfeeding has not been studied in RCTs.

Therefore, the following feasibility elements will be assessed.

- 1. Number of patients who declined DHM
- 2. Number of patients who did not wish to enrol
- 3. Number of patients unable to continue the intervention
- 4. Number of patients who were lost to follow up
- 5. Protocol deviations frequency

Secondary outcomes - maternal questionnaires and qualitative data

A validated questionnaire, Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale – Short Form (BSES-SF) adapted for preterm infants (36), is given to mothers at two time points – around 10 days postnatal age and again at 36 weeks ca or prior to discharge if sooner. The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) questionnaire is also administered to mothers around day 10 postpartum (37). BSES-SF and EPDS scores will serve as a guide to ensure that mothers both spectrums (with scores in in the bottom and top quartile) will be represented in the subset chosen for interviews.

Qualitative interviews with mothers will be conducted to explore perceptions around DHM use and barriers and facilitators to expressing MOM. These one-to-one, in-person semi-structured interviews will be audio-recorded and transcribed. We estimate that 15-20 interviews will be recorded although final number of interviews will be determined by thematic saturation generated through interpretation of data (38). Qualitative data will also inform whether an "RCT" design was problematic or unacceptable for mothers.

Hypothesis, sample size and power

We hypothesise that longer access to DHM (intervention) will improve the rate of breastfeeding at discharge from 35% (the rate in our NICU in 2019) to 60% (the average rate in UK NICUs using NNAP UK-wide data). Fifty-eight infants per trial group will be required to detect an improvement in breastfeeding rates at discharge from 35% to 60%. Assuming 10% of infants do not survive, at least 130 infants need to be recruited to complete the trial. We

estimate that up to 20% of infants may be discharged before 36 weeks ca to other neonatal units that do not have access to DHM. We will therefore need to recruit between 130 and 156 infants-for the study to be powered at 80%, and we estimate this will take 18-24 months recruitment.

Analysis

Data will be analysed using an intention-to-treat approach. Additional analysis will be performed using breastfeeding outcome data for those completing the study (i.e., excluding transfers) and the first baby from a multiple pregnancy enrolled. Categorical data will be presented as counts and frequencies and will be compared using chi squared or Fisher exact test as appropriate. Morbidities will use logistic regression. Continuous data will be presented as mean (SD) or median (IQR) and the Shapiro-Wilk test will be used to test the normality of the data. Group differences in continuous data will be compared using Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney U test for normally and non-normally distributed data respectively or quantile regression as appropriate. Feeding data will be compared using multinomial statistics. All tests will be performed two tailed and p<0.05 will be deemed statistically significant. Qualitative data will be analysed using reflexive thematic analysis (39).

Patient and Public Involvement

The study involved discussion with parents and is aligned with the James Lind alliance priority setting that identified feeding and nutrition as key areas for research in preterm

infants. A trial steering committee including parents oversees trial conduct and progress.

The trial is compliant with the UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative.

What is already known on this topic:

MOM benefits for preterm infants are well recognised but uncertainties remain around the optimal strategy for DHM use, especially whether it impacts—on breastfeeding. DHM is a complex intervention which has effects on infant health and maternal and healthcare staff behaviours and beliefs.

What this study adds:

This pilot RCT strives to determine if DHM provision affects breastfeeding rate at discharge and if RCT is a suitable design to answer this research question.

How this study might affect research, practice or policy:

A single RCT of a complex intervention is unlikely to resolve all uncertainties. Studies incorporating quantitative and qualitative methods may better elucidate the role of DHM in NICUs. HUMMINGBIRD may help optimise the design of future studies in larger scale.

ETHICS APPROVAL AND DISSEMINATION

Nottingham 2 Research Ethics Committee granted approval for HUMMINGBIRD Study on 6th April 2021 (IRAS Project ID 281071) and recruitment commenced on 7th June 2021. Results

will be disseminated in peer-reviewed journals and discussed with Tiny Lives Charity and Bliss UK to consider the implications of findings.

COMPETING INTERESTS

NS is the cofounder of the Human Milk Foundation, a UK charity that provides donor human milk. NE and JB report research grants paid to their institution from National Institutes for Health Research, Action Medical Research, Prolacta Biosciences US, Danone Early Life Nutrition and NeoKare but received no personal fee, and have no other financial conflicts related to industry funding. NE reports lecture honoraria from Nestle Nutrition Institute donated to charity, and Astarte Medical.

FUNDING

This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial or not-for-profit sectors and was supported using internal departmental funds.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

NE had original idea for HUMMINGBIRD after discussions with NS and played a key role in developing the protocol. JB contributed to study design and protocol development. All authors contributed to the writing and review of this paper and gave final approval for its submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Not applicable.

REFERENCES

- 1. Statistics OfN. Birth characteristics in England and Wales: 2019 Office for National Statistics 2020 [cited 2022 11/11/2022]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/bulletins/birthcharacteristicsinenglandandwales/2019#gestational-age.
- 2. Santhakumaran S, Statnikov Y, Gray D, Battersby C, Ashby D, Modi N. Survival of very preterm infants admitted to neonatal care in England 2008–2014: time trends and regional variation. Archives of Disease in Childhood Fetal and Neonatal Edition. 2018;103(3):F208-F15.
- 3. Berrington JE, Hearn RI, Bythell M, Wright C, Embleton ND. Deaths in preterm infants: changing pathology over 2 decades. J Pediatr. 2012;160(1):49-53.e1.
- 4. Platt MJ. Outcomes in preterm infants. Public Health. 2014;128(5):399-403.
- 5. Embleton ND. Early nutrition and later outcomes in preterm infants. World Rev Nutr Diet. 2013;106:26-32.
- 6. Ziegler EE, Carlson SJ. Early nutrition of very low birth weight infants. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2009;22(3):191-7.
- 7. Agostoni C, Buonocore G, Carnielli VP, De Curtis M, Darmaun D, Decsi T, et al. Enteral nutrient supply for preterm infants: commentary from the European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition Committee on Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2010;50(1):85-91.
- 8. Sullivan S, Schanler RJ, Kim JH, Patel AL, Trawöger R, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U, et al. An exclusively human milk-based diet is associated with a lower rate of necrotizing enterocolitis than a diet of human milk and bovine milk-based products. J Pediatr. 2010;156(4):562-7.e1.
- 9. Patel AL, Johnson TJ, Engstrom JL, Fogg LF, Jegier BJ, Bigger HR, et al. Impact of early human milk on sepsis and health-care costs in very low birth weight infants. J Perinatol. 2013;33(7):514-9.
- 10. Villamor-Martínez E, Pierro M, Cavallaro G, Mosca F, Villamor E. Mother's Own Milk and Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Pediatr. 2019;7:224.
- 11. Ahrabi AF, Schanler RJ. Human milk is the only milk for premies in the NICU! Early Hum Dev. 2013;89 Suppl 2:S51-3.
- 12. Embleton NE, Pang N, Cooke RJ. Postnatal malnutrition and growth retardation: an inevitable consequence of current recommendations in preterm infants? Pediatrics. 2001;107(2):270-3.
- 13. Embleton ND. Optimal protein and energy intakes in preterm infants. Early Hum Dev. 2007;83(12):831-7.
- 14. Rozé JC, Darmaun D, Boquien CY, Flamant C, Picaud JC, Savagner C, et al. The apparent breastfeeding paradox in very preterm infants: relationship between breast feeding, early weight gain and neurodevelopment based on results from two cohorts, EPIPAGE and LIFT. BMJ Open. 2012;2(2):e000834.

- 15. El-Khuffash A, Lewandowski AJ, Jain A, Hamvas A, Singh GK, Levy PT. Cardiac Performance in the First Year of Age Among Preterm Infants Fed Maternal Breast Milk. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(8):e2121206.
- 16. Owen CG, Martin RM, Whincup PH, Smith GD, Cook DG. Effect of infant feeding on the risk of obesity across the life course: a quantitative review of published evidence. Pediatrics. 2005;115(5):1367-77.
- 17. National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) 2022 annual report on 2021 data2022 [cited 2022. Available from: https://nnap.rcpch.ac.uk/annual-reports.aspx.
- 18. Henderson JJ, Hartmann PE, Newnham JP, Simmer K. Effect of preterm birth and antenatal corticosteroid treatment on lactogenesis II in women. Pediatrics. 2008;121(1):e92-100.
- 19. Organization WH. Guidelines on optimal feeding of low birth-weight infants in lowand middle-income countries: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 20. Quigley M, Embleton ND, McGuire W. Formula versus donor breast milk for feeding preterm or low birth weight infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;6(6):Cd002971.
- 21. Zipitis CS, Ward J, Bajaj R. Use of donor breast milk in neonatal units in the UK. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2015;100(3):F279-81.
- 22. Battersby C, Longford N, Mandalia S, Costeloe K, Modi N. Incidence and enteral feed antecedents of severe neonatal necrotising enterocolitis across neonatal networks in England, 2012-13: a whole-population surveillance study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;2(1):43-51.
- 23. Williams T, Nair H, Simpson J, Embleton N. Use of Donor Human Milk and Maternal Breastfeeding Rates: A Systematic Review. J Hum Lact. 2016;32(2):212-20.
- 24. Kantorowska A, Wei JC, Cohen RS, Lawrence RA, Gould JB, Lee HC. Impact of Donor Milk Availability on Breast Milk Use and Necrotizing Enterocolitis Rates. Pediatrics. 2016;137(3):e20153123.
- 25. Parker LA, Cacho N, Engelmann C, Benedict J, Wymer S, Michael W, et al. Consumption of Mother's Own Milk by Infants Born Extremely Preterm Following Implementation of a Donor Human Milk Program: A Retrospective Cohort Study. J Pediatr. 2019;211:33-8.
- 26. Esquerra-Zwiers A, Schoeny ME, Engstrom J, Wicks J, Szotek J, Meier P, et al. The Interaction of Donor Human Milk Availability and Race/Ethnicity on Provision of Mother's Own Milk for Very Low Birth Weight Infants. Breastfeed Med. 2021;16(1):46-53.
- 27. Mondkar J, Chawla D, Sachdeva RC, Manerkar S, Shanbhag S, Khan A, et al. Impact of mother-baby friendly initiative plus approach on improving human milk feeding for neonates in hospital: a quality improvement before-and-after uncontrolled study. Eur J Pediatr. 2022;181(1):107-16.
- 28. Hay WW, Jr., Hendrickson KC. Preterm formula use in the preterm very low birth weight infant. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2017;22(1):15-22.
- 29. Masi AC, Embleton ND, Lamb CA, Young G, Granger CL, Najera J, et al. Human milk oligosaccharide DSLNT and gut microbiome in preterm infants predicts necrotising enterocolitis. Gut. 2021;70(12):2273-82.
- 30. Stewart CJ, Ajami NJ, O'Brien JL, Hutchinson DS, Smith DP, Wong MC, et al. Temporal development of the gut microbiome in early childhood from the TEDDY study. Nature. 2018;562(7728):583-8.

- 31. Zanganeh M, Jordan M, Mistry H. A systematic review of economic evaluations for donor human milk versus standard feeding in infants. Matern Child Nutr. 2021;17(2):e13151.
- 32. Health RCoPaC. National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) 2020 report on 2019 data. 2022.
- 33. Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. Bmj. 2021;374:n2061.
- 34. Dong Y, Speer CP. Late-onset neonatal sepsis: recent developments. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2015;100(3):F257-63.
- 35. Medicine BAoP. Categories of Care 2011 2011 [Available from: https://www.bapm.org/resources/34-categories-of-care-2011.
- 36. Wheeler BJ, Dennis CL. Psychometric testing of the modified breastfeeding self-efficacy scale (short form) among mothers of ill or preterm infants. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2013;42(1):70-80.
- 37. Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of postnatal depression. Development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. Br J Psychiatry. 1987;150:782-6.
- 38. Braun V, Clarke V. To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health. 2021;13(2):201-16.
- 39. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in psychology. 2006;3(2):77-101.

0

M

M

41

Inputs

MOTHERS/PARENTS

- Separation after admission to NICU
- Stress, postnatal depression
- Maternal health issues
- Pressure

HEALTH CARE STAFF

- · Workload and staffing issues
- · Personal attitudes and beliefs about nutritional strategies
- · Level of experience and training

Processes

MOTHERS/PARENTS

- Antenatal and early postnatal counselling
- Adequate lactation support
- · Family Integrated Care

HEALTH CARE STAFF

- Education sessions
- Practice guidelines
- · Dedicated infant Feeding Team
- Funding

Outputs

MOTHERS/PARENTS

- Consent for DHM use
- Information leaflets

HEALTH CARE STAFF

- Acceptance of new practices
- Integration into lactation support provision
- · Training and education
- Audit and evaluation/QI

SHORT-TERM

- Increased MOM availability for preterm infants
- Less formula
- feeds and
- awareness about milk donation

Outcomes

- use
- · Earlier enteral reduced PN use
- Increased

MID-TERM

- Improved breastfeeding rates at and after discharge
- Decreased rates of NEC and other neonatal morbidities
 - Change in culture and beliefs of health care staff
- Improved parental wellbeing

LONG-TERM

- · Improved longterm outcomes for preterm infants
 - Reduced economic costs associated with preterm birth
- Normalisation of human milk and breastfeeding in society
 - Positive environmental impacts



Normalisation of breastfeeding

SOCIETY AND ENVIRONMENT

· Low breastfeeding rates

https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/bmjpo







Human MIlk, Nutrition, Growth, and Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Chief Investigator: Dr Nicholas D Embleton, Ward 35, Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle upon Tyne

NE1 4LP, UK

Nicholas.embleton@ncl.ac.uk

Sponsor: Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

IRAS Project ID: 281071

Sponsor Protocol number: NuTH 09735

Trial registration number: ISRCTN

REC reference number:

Investigator team

Dr Kristina Chmelova Trust doctor in Neonatal Medicine, Newcastle Hospitals
Dr Janet Berrington Consultant Neonatal Paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals

Professor Judith Rankin Professor of Maternal and Child Health, Newcastle University

Ms Maria Douglass Infant feeding lead, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Stefan Zalewski Consultant Neonatal Paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Claire Granger Research Fellow in Neonatal Medicine, Newcastle Hospitals

Dr Natalie Shenker UKRI Future Leaders Fellow, Imperial College London

Professor Nicholas Embleton Consultant Neonatal Paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals



Contents

Trial Steering Committee (TSC)	. 3
Study proposal summary	. 3
ntroduction	. 5
Use of donor human milk (DHM)	. 5
Current practice of DHM in the UK	. 7
Summary of key issues	. 7
Proposed study to explore impacts on breastfeeding	. 8
Secondary outcomes – growth and neonatal outcomes	. 8
Secondary outcomes – breastfeeding self-efficacy and thematic analysis of interviews	. 9
Sample size and Power	. 9
Funding	10
Trial registration, Ethics, HRA and risk burden	10
Patient Public Involvement and importance to the NHS	10
Experience of research team members	11
References	12
Appendix 1: Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale – Short Form	15
Appendix 2: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)	
Appendix 3: data items	18
Appendix 4: Patient Information Sheet (PIS) Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
Appendix 5: Consent form Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
Appendix 5: Topic guide for interviews	19

Humming bird HARLING Mill Here Hall, Stades Bastlering on Bernaria or Williams

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study

Trial Steering Committee (TSC)

Name	Role
TBC	Independent chair
Dr Nicholas Embleton	Chief Investigator
TBC	Parent
TBC	BFI/Advocacy rep
Maria Douglass	Breast feeding support nurse
Professor Judith Rankin	Co-investigator
Dr Janet Berrington	Co-investigator
Dr Stefan Zalewski	Co-investigator

Study proposal summary

This is the protocol proposal for a single site, non-blinded, randomised controlled trial exploring two currently used dietary regimes in preterm infants. The dietary regimes involve fully supporting mothers to provide their own expressed breast milk and using donor human milk to make up any shortfall in breastmilk supply. The primary outcome is maternal breastfeeding rates at discharge. Mothers of infants on ward 35 neonatal unit at the Royal Victoria Infirmary will be approached by clinical team members, and infants will be enrolled after signed informed consent. Infants do not undergo any additional interventions or tests, and all data used is routinely collected. Mothers will complete short questionnaires on two occasions and a subset invited to take part in qualitative interviews. The study intervention finishes at hospital discharge, but two telephone calls post-discharge will be made to ascertain duration of any prolonged breastfeeding

Title (Acronym)	Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, and Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge:
Title (Acronym)	The Hummingbird Study
Ctudy contro	Ward 35, Newcastle Royal Victoria Infirmary. Additional sites may be
Study centre	added

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



Study objectives	To compare two dietary regimes that both use mother's own breastmilk and donor human milk to make up any volume shortfall
Study design	Randomised open label, controlled trial
Study population	 Preterm infants born <33 completed weeks of gestation or <1500g birthweight Admitted to neonatal unit in first week of life Written informed consent from parents Maternal intention to provide breastmilk after birth Exclusion criteria Parents unwilling to accept donor human milk Major congenital or life-threatening abnormalities Inability to randomise within 7 days of birth Exposure to formula milk product prior to randomisation
Interventions	Donor human milk until full milk feeds established (control) compared to donor human milk until discharge for as long as the mother is still providing her own milk
Target number of patients	130-160 infants
Randomisation	Minimisation incorporating the following variables: gestation (<28 weeks yes/no), and twin/triplet status (yes/no) Secured, password protected web-based randomisation using minimisation algorithm (www.sealedenvelope.com or similar)
Primary outcomes	Breastfeeding at hospital discharge or 36 weeks corrected age
Secondary outcomes	Feed and growth-related outcomes Neonatal morbidities and clinical outcomes Maternal breast-feeding self-efficacy & postnatal depression scores Thematic analysis of qualitative interviews (subset)
Duration of trial intervention	36 weeks postmenstrual age or hospital discharge (which ever earlier)
Duration of study	Recruitment period: 18 months Total trial duration: 21 months



End of Trial	Discharge from neonatal unit at Newcastle
Safety assessments	Routine assessments until discharge from Ward 35 Neonatal Unit
Safety assessifients	Safety tracking during hospitalisation

Introduction

Around 10% of all births are premature, but whilst the majority do not require specialist medical treatment, those born very preterm (<32 weeks gestation) require prolonged hospital stay including intensive care. Survival in these infants has increased dramatically in recent years, but death is still common (~10% overall) as are the consequences of life-long physical and cognitive impairment.¹ In the UK around 10,000 premature infants are born every year, representing an annual cost to the NHS of ~£3 billion.²

The commonest cause of death or serious illness in preterm infants after the first few days are gut complications such as necrotising enterocolitis (NEC) or septicaemia.³ Morbidity and mortality is lower in infants who receive mother's own expressed breastmilk (MOM) but >80% still require additional milk supplementation.⁴ This is because there is often a 'shortfall' in maternal milk supply either due to inadequate lactation, or because mothers choose to discontinue expressing breastmilk before infants' are discharged home. Over 90% of mother's now provide at least some breastmilk, but breastfeeding rates at discharge vary considerably from 30-80% depending on hospital.⁵ Low rates of breastfeeding are a major health concern, as there is strong evidence that breastfeeding throughout infancy is beneficial for cognitive and metabolic outcomes (e.g. obesity, high blood pressure etc.) in childhood and throughout the life-course.^{6,7}

Use of donor human milk (DHM)

When there is a shortfall in MOM supply, an alternative milk is needed, which is either formula milk, or pasteurised, donated, human milk (DHM). 6,8 DHM is provided from one of ~12 donor milk banks in the UK which collect milk from UK donors. DHM must be tested, pasteurised, frozen and transported to hospitals for use. Because of this DHM is much more expensive (£150/litre) than formula milk (£5/litre). Studies also suggest that DHM may be less beneficial than mother's own milk at reducing neonatal disease, and strong support for mothers to provide their own milk is universally accepted. 9



DHM has been widely used for >30 years in the NHS, but there is no national system for supply, and use varies dramatically: some clinical networks do not use it at all, whereas others provide it routinely to all preterm infants. ¹⁰ No trial has ever been powered to determine a realistic reduction on rates of necrotising enterocolitis (NEC) or sepsis and such a trial would probably need to recruit at least 2500 infants. ⁴ There have been no large UK trials of donor human milk in preterm infants ever, and no nationally agreed, evidenced based guidelines for use exist. ¹⁰ The only two, recent, moderately sized (300-400 infants) RCTs showed differing effects. A Canadian trial showed no improvement on the primary outcome of cognitive outcome in infancy, although NEC was lower in a secondary analysis; however, there was no impact on survival. ^{11,12} A larger Dutch trial showed no effect on death, NEC or sepsis (combined primary outcome) although DHM was only provided for the first 10 days of life. ¹³ Our current Cochrane meta-analysis concluded that there is no evidence for a reduction in death, or any long-term benefits, but whilst NEC may be lower around 33 infants would need to receive DHM to prevent one case. ⁴

In the last 20 years we identified only 5 RCTs including just 1200 infants in total, of which only one study was conducted in Europe. No trials included a qualitative analysis and economic analyses was only conducted in one trial which showed no difference in costs to 18 months age. In the UK, the healthcare costs of DHM need to be considered in order to determine which infants should receive DHM. Inconsistent observational data suggest an impact of donor milk on breast feeding rates, but no trials reported the impact on continued breastfeeding at discharge. Our systematic review concluded that whilst there may be an impact on breastfeeding at discharge where DHM is used (perhaps by creating a more positive culture of breastfeeding), the effect was weak and inconsistent.

Whilst all neonatal units now strive to support mothers to provide breastmilk, proponents of DHM argue that it's use creates a more positive effect on mother's, as well as health professional belief and culture, will result in longer duration of breastmilk expression, and ultimately duration of breastfeeding. However, whilst there are observational data, this has never been tested in well-designed RCTs, and a recent systematic review determined the overall impact was equivocal. Nevertheless, increasing numbers of women, and support groups, now advocate for universal use of DHM in vulnerable infants throughout hospital stay, despite the lack of conclusive data and high-quality health economic evaluation. 16–18



Current practice of DHM in the UK

Despite the widespread use of DHM, indications and practical use varies widely between Neonatal Intensive Care Units (NICUs) and hospitals. Some NICUs restrict use to only those infants born <28 weeks whereas others provide to all infants <32-34 weeks or <1500g. Some hospitals also use DHM for term born infants with cardiac and gut conditions, and in some situations, parents have asked for DHM to be used in term born infants where maternal supply is inadequate. In the first few days when milk feeds are established in preterm infants only relatively small DHM volumes are required, but volume (and therefore costs) increase as the infant grows. Clinical practice in NICUs in the UK varies widely. 10,19,20 Some NICUs only use DHM until full milk feeds have been established. This is because most key events linked to feeding (sepsis, NEC and other severe illness) occur in the first 10 days. However, other units will use DHM until closer to discharge because some clinicians feel this is more likely to support longer term breast feeding.

A further challenge arises because human breast milk alone will not meet the nutrient requirements for preterm infants. To meet the higher nutrient requirements of preterm infants, commercially produced breast-milk-fortifiers (BMF) are added to mothers' own milk or donor milk. Although human milk-based fortifiers are available these are not widely used outside the USA and are very expensive. BMF is therefore produced from cow's milk and is therefore a similar product to cow's milk infant formula. Many clinicians feel that rather than adding BMF to donor milk it would be preferable to use a milk formula. This is because growth is slower in infants receiving DHM, and there are concerns that slow early growth may increase the risk of other problems, including worse cognitive outcomes. In addition, the continued use of DHM after full feeds are established in a typical preterm infant at 28 weeks born weighing 1000g, would cost around £1000-2000 more where the infant receives all DHM compared to infants receiving formula (in the situation where mothers do not provide any breastmilk).

Summary of key issues

In summary, use of donor human milk is commonplace in most UK neonatal units and despite the lack of a conclusive evidence base seems likely to remain a common choice for many clinicians where there is a shortfall in mothers' own milk. Most parents appear to favour use of DHM, and DHM is also strongly supported by advocacy groups including the WHO and UNICEF. There is no consistent approach to the use of DHM once feeds are established, and growth is faster when formula is used. DHM is also more expensive compared to formula. DHM may improve breastfeeding rates at discharge, and/or improve maternal self-efficacy for breast feeding, but if there are no additional



benefits from more prolonged use then resources may be better spent elsewhere, for example by employing more lactation specialists to support mothers to provide their own milk.

Proposed study to explore impacts on breastfeeding

The Hummingbird study is designed to compare two clinical dietary approaches, both of which are routinely used in the UK, by comparing the use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds (control) to that of using DHM for a longer duration up to the pre-discharge period (intervention).

- Setting: Tertiary level NICU on ward 35, Royal Victoria
- Population: preterm infants <33 weeks or <1500g admitted in the first 7 days of life
- Intervention: use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until 35-36 weeks corrected age (or the initiation of breast feeding)
- **Control**: use of DHM to make up any shortfall in MOM until full feeds are achieved (tolerating 150mls/kg/day for 48 hours) and use of preterm formula milk to make up shortfall thereafter
- **Primary outcome**: any breastfeeding at 36 weeks corrected age or hospital discharge if this is earlier. This outcome is also met if a mother is still actively expressing breastmilk which the infant receives wholly or in part via a bottle/
- Study design: non-blinded randomised controlled trial
- **Timeframe**: until 36 weeks corrected gestation or hospital discharge is earlier

Currently around 90-95% of our mother's start expression of breastmilk for their baby, but only 35% are still providing breastmilk at discharge compared to the national average of 60%. ^{5,23} The rate in the North East of England is around the lowest in the UK. Mothers who choose or are unable to continue providing MOM may do this at any point in time after they have started. Because this study is designed to impact on breastfeeding at discharge, infants in the intervention group will only continue to receive DHM if their mother is still continuing to provide breastmilk. Where the infant has not received any mother's own breastmilk for 1 week, or where the mother has told clinical staff she is no longer expressing, we will discontinue use of DHM, and the baby will receive a standard formula milk designed for preterm infants.

Secondary outcomes – growth and neonatal outcomes

We will collect a range of relevant common neonatal secondary outcomes:

1. Growth – weekly weight, length and head circumference, mid-arm/thigh where feasible, absolute changes (g/kg/day and mm/week) and change in standard deviation score



- 2. Episodes of NEC, sepsis confirmed and clinically suspected according to existing nationally agreed case definitions
- 3. Chronic lung disease, Retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), Intraventricular haemorrhage, Cystic PVL etc.
- 4. Days of intensive, high and low dependency care; age at discharge, total length of stay
- 5. Total volume (litres) of milk (MOM, DHM and formula) received from birth to 36 weeks
- 6. Age at starting fortifier
- 7. Type of feeding at discharge (direct breast feeding, tube feeding etc.)

Secondary outcomes – breastfeeding self-efficacy and thematic analysis of interviews

We will use a mixed methods approach to determine maternal breastfeeding self-efficacy expression and conduct qualitative interviews in a subset of up to 20 mothers. We will use two short validated questionnaires – the Breast-feeding Self-efficacy Scale – Short form (BSES-SF)^{24,25} and the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale²⁶ - at two time points: between 5-10 days of age and again at 35-36wca or prior to discharge if sooner. These only take around 1-2 minutes to complete. We will use the BSES-SF scores to identify women in the top and bottom quartiles of scores and invite up to 10 women per trial group to take part in a qualitative tape-recorded interview. This will be transcribed and analysed using thematic analysis. We will develop a topic guide based on the questions on the BSE-SF and our experience (see appendix). Interviews will be conducted by a single member of the research team (KC) shortly before or after hospital discharge. We will seek consent to keep in touch with parents after discharge. We will also ask for consent to keep in telephone contact with mothers who are breastfeeding at discharge at 1-2 monthly intervals in order to simply ascertain duration of breastfeeding.

Sample size and Power

We hypothesise that prolonged use of DHM will improve the rate of breastfeeding at discharge from 35% to the UK national average of 60%. Fifty-eight infants per trial group would be required to detect an improvement in breastfeeding rates at discharge from 35% to 60%. Assuming 10% of infants do not survive we will need to recruit at least 130 infants who are still receiving care at the RVI at ~36 weeks corrected age (wca). We estimate that up to 20% of infants may be discharged before 36wca to a local hospital that does not have continued access to DHM. We will therefore need to recruit between 130 and 156 infants in order that we are powered to determine the primary outcome. The NICU on ward 35 admits ~160 babies every year <1500g or <33 weeks of whom we expected around 80% of infants will be enrolled (based on previous RCTs we conducted). Therefore, we estimate we will need a 12-18 months recruitment period so we can enrol at least 130 infants who achieve the primary outcome. Twins and triplets will be co-randomised to the same trial arm. We will analyse the data for all infants



using an intention-to-treat approach, but we will perform additional analysis only using breastfeeding outcome data for the first twin enrolled.

Funding

This trial will use dietary treatments already used in this way on the neonatal unit and collect routinely available electronic clinical data extracted from e-record and Badger neonatal database and inputted into an excel worksheet. There are no costs for use of questionnaires. Trial recruitment, consenting and interviews will be conducted by a member of clinical staff who has time available as part of daily activities (KC) supported by the neonatal research nurse. Costs for ISRCTN registration, printing, paperwork, tape recording, transcription, and travel costs for membership of the TSC will be met out of existing departmental research funds.

Trial registration, Ethics, HRA and risk burden

The trial will be registered on ISRCTN prior to opening. We will apply for HRA and REC approvals and apply for adoption onto the NIHR portfolio. There are no specific ethical issues with this trial, but we recognise the additional burden placed on parents by being asked to consider trial enrolment. There are no additional safety issues as part of the trial per SeUse of donor breastmilk could be associated with theoretical risks (although none have been documented) or inadvertent use of the 'wrong' milk, but donor milk is already used in routine practice and this trial does not increase the risk. No additional interventions or tests are applied to infants as part of the trial. The questionnaires do ask sensitive information but only members of the clinical team will see the responses and will already be aware of important family and mental health issues as part of routine family centred care on the neonatal unit. Where the mother wishes, we will use the questionnaire responses to provide further targeted support to help her. The trial is fully compliant with national recommendations and Baby Friendly Initiative (BFI) part of UNICEF.

Patient Public Involvement and importance to the NHS

We have discussed this study with parents on the neonatal unit, and other parents after discharge. Parents tell us that the risks and complication associated with feeding preterm infants, and the stress of being able to provide breastmilk for their infant are very important issues. In addition, the James Lind alliance (JLA) priority setting www.jla.nihr.ac.uk/priority-setting-partnerships/preterm-birth/top-10-priorities/ identifies feeding and nutrition as very important. Our study focuses on key JLA priorities (i) what is the optimum milk feeding strategy (ii) what type of support is most effective in improving breastfeeding and will provide additional information relevant for a further 2 additional priorities (iii) how can infection be better prevented (iv) what interventions are most effective at preventing NEC. This trial is of major relevance to the NHS and studies interventions and outcomes highlighted in a recent top research priority setting in preterm infants. ²⁷ Breastfeeding is a major national priority and



is an intervention that has potential to benefit marginalised and poorly resourced groups. Breastfeeding support in the community is essential to continued successful breastfeeding but is recognised as being inadequate in many settings. NEC is a devastating condition, and half of the infants requiring surgery die or have long-term serious disability. Donor human milk is an important cost for the NHS, but the total costs of DHM even for a large NICU will still be substantially less than the costs associated with a single episode of surgical NEC. We will invite a parent to join the TSC and invite an additional independent member to the TSC from a charity or parent advocacy organisation. We will liaise with Tiny Lives charity and Bliss UK to consider the implications of our trial findings and disseminate the results.

Experience of research team members

We are an experienced research team, having recruited more than 1000 preterm infants to trials and studies in the last 10 years, including qualitative exploration of sensitive issue in parents whose babies did not survive. We are recognised internationally for our work on feeding and nutrition, and associated complications such as necrotising enterocolitis. We have worked closely with parents on all our studies (see above).



References

- 1. March of Dimes, PMNCH, Save the Children W. Born too soon. Born Too Soon, Glob Action Rep Preterm Birth Eds CP Howson, MV Kinney, JE Lawn World Heal Organ Geneva [Internet]. 2012;13(5):1–126. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23911366
- 2. Khan KA, Petrou S, Dritsaki M, Johnson SJ, Manktelow B, Draper ES, et al. Economic costs associated with moderate and late preterm birth: A prospective population-based study. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;122(11):1495–505.
- 3. Berrington JE, Hearn RI, Bythell M, Wright C, Embleton ND. Deaths in preterm infants: Changing pathology over 2 decades. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 2];160(1):49-53.e1. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.06.046
- 4. Quigley M, Embleton ND, McGuire W. Formula versus donor breast milk for feeding preterm or low birht weight infants (Review) in press. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;
- 5. Stiles S, De Rooy L. Breastfeeding rates at discharge: Don't blame the fortifier! A national survey of practice and comparison with NNAP data. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2018;103(6):597–8.
- 6. Menon G, Williams TC. Human milk for preterm infants: why, what, when and how? Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed [Internet]. 2013;98(6):F559-62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23893267
- 7. Quigley M a, Hockley C, Carson C, Kelly Y, Renfrew MJ, Sacker A. Breastfeeding is associated with improved child cognitive development: a population-based cohort study. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 21];160(1):25–32. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21839469
- 8. Renfrew MJ, Craig D, Dyson L, McCormick F, Rice S, King SE, et al. Breastfeeding promotion for infants in neonatal units: a systematic review and economic analysis. Health Technol Assess [Internet]. 2009 Aug [cited 2015 Jan 2];13(40):1–146, iii–iv. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19728934
- 9. Corpeleijn WE, de Waard M, Christmann V, van Goudoever JB, Jansen-van der Weide MC, Kooi EMW, et al. Effect of Donor Milk on Severe Infections and Mortality in Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants. JAMA Pediatr [Internet]. 2016;1–8. Available from: http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0183
- 10. Zipitis CS, Ward J, Bajaj R. Use of donor breast milk in neonatal units in the UK. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed [Internet]. 2014 Dec 24 [cited 2015 Jan 2];0(0):24–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25540146
- 11. Unger S, Gibbins S, Zupancic J, O'Connor DL. DoMINO: Donor milk for improved neurodevelopmental outcomes. BMC Pediatr [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 12];14(1):123. Available from:
 - http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4032387&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract
- 12. O'Connor DL, Gibbins S, Kiss A, Bando N, Brennan-Donnan J, Ng E, et al. Effect of Supplemental Donor Human Milk Compared With Preterm Formula on Neurodevelopment of Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants at 18 Months. Jama [Internet]. 2016;316(18):1897. Available from:



- http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jama.2016.16144
- 13. Corpeleijn WE, de Waard M, Christmann V, van Goudoever JB, Jansen-van der Weide MC, Kooi EMW, et al. Effect of Donor Milk on Severe Infections and Mortality in Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants: The Early Nutrition Study Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Pediatr [Internet]. 2016;1–8. Available from:
 - http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0183%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27135598
- 14. Parker LA, Cacho N, Engelmann C, Benedict J, Wymer S, Michael W, et al. Consumption of Mother's Own Milk by Infants Born Extremely Preterm Following Implementation of a Donor Human Milk Program: A Retrospective Cohort Study. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2019; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2019.03.040
- 15. Williams T, Nair H, Simpson J, Embleton N. Use of Donor Human Milk and Maternal Breastfeeding Rates: A Systematic Review. J Hum Lact. 2015;32(2).
- 16. Carroll K. Body dirt or liquid gold? How the "safety" of donated breastmilk is constructed for use in neonatal intensive care. Soc Stud Sci [Internet]. 2014;44(3):466–85. Available from: http://sss.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0306312714521705
- 17. Simmer K, Hartmann B. The knowns and unknowns of human milk banking. Early Hum Dev [Internet]. 2009 Nov [cited 2015 Jan 2];85(11):701–4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19766412
- 18. Zupancic JAF, Unger S, Kiss A, Bando N, Trang S, Gibbins S, et al. Cost- E ffectiveness of Supplemental Donor Milk Versus Formula for Very Low Birth Weight Infants abstract. 2018;141(3).
- 19. Klingenberg C, Embleton ND, Jacobs SE, O'Connell L a F, Kuschel C a. Enteral feeding practices in very preterm infants: an international survey. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 2];97(1):F56-61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21856644
- 20. Embleton ND, Barnett D, Oates C, Griffiths J, Simpson JH, Smith H, et al. British Association of Perinatal Medicine The Use of Donor Human Expressed Breast Milk in Newborn Infants A Framework for Practice. 2016;(July):1–3.
- 21. Young L, Embleton ND, McCormick FM, McGuire W, Lauren Y, D EN, et al. Multinutrient fortification of human breast milk for preterm infants following hospital discharge. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2013;2(2):CD004866. Available from: http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed11&NEWS=N&AN=234505 56%5Cnhttp://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD004866.pub4/abstract
- 22. Sullivan S, Schanler RJ, Kim JH, Patel AL, Trawöger R, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U, et al. An exclusively human milk-based diet is associated with a lower rate of necrotizing enterocolitis than a diet of human milk and bovine milk-based products. J Pediatr [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2014 Dec 23];156(4):562-7.e1. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20036378
- 23. Wilson E, Edstedt Bonamy A-K, Bonet M, Toome L, Rodrigues C, Howell EA, et al. Room for improvement in breast milk feeding after very preterm birth in Europe: Results from the EPICE cohort. Matern Child Nutr [Internet]. 2017;(December 2016):e12485. Available from:



- http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/mcn.12485
- 24. Wheeler BJ, Dennis CL. Psychometric Testing of the Modified Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale (Short Form) Among Mothers of Ill or Preterm Infants. JOGNN - J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2013;42(1):70-80.
- 25. Brockway M, Benzies KM, Carr E, Aziz K. Breastfeeding self-efficacy and breastmilk feeding for moderate and late preterm infants in the Family Integrated Care trial: A mixed methods protocol. Int Breastfeed J. 2018;13(1):1-11.
- 26. Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of Postnatal Depression. Br J Psychiatry. 1987;150(6):782-6.
- in t.

 J(1):1-1.

 Zetection of .

 We S, David AL, James.

 Jon partnership between.

 JMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2c. Oliver S, Uhm S, Duley L, Crowe S, David AL, James CP, et al. Top research priorities for preterm 27. birth: Results of a prioritisation partnership between people affected by preterm birth and healthcare professionals. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1):1-10.



Appendix 1: Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale – Short Form

²⁴Wheeler et al. 2013

Original Items

I can....

- 1. Determine that my baby is getting enough milk
- 2. Successfully cope with the breastfeeding situation (pumping and actual breastfeeding) like I have with other challenging tasks
- 3. Breastfeed my baby without using formula as a supplement
- 4. Ensure that my baby is properly latched on for the whole feeding
- 5. Manage the breastfeeding situation to my satisfaction
- 6. Manage to breastfeed even if my baby is crying
- 7. Keep wanting to breastfeed
- 8. Comfortably breastfeed with my family members present
- 9. Be satisfied with my breastfeeding experience
- 10. Deal with the fact that pumping and breastfeeding can be time consuming
- 11. Finish feeding my baby on one breast before switching to the other breast
- 12. Continue to breastfeed my baby for every feeding
- 13. Manage to keep up with my baby's breastfeeding demands
- 14. Tell when my baby is finished breastfeeding

Additional Items

- 1. Pump enough milk for my baby
- 2. Get help with breastfeeding if or when I need it
- 3. Determine when my baby needs to be fed
- 4. Switch from mostly pumping to mostly or completely breastfeeding my baby

Appendix 2: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)

²⁶Cox et al.

I have been able to laugh and see the funny side of things.



	(O)		
•		As much as I	I always could

- Not quite so much now
- Definitely not so much now
- Not at all
- I have looked forward with enjoyment to things.
 - As much as I ever did
 - Rather less than I used to
 - Definitely less than I used to
 - Hardly at all
- I have blamed myself unnecessarily when things went wrong.
 - Yes, most of the time
 - Yes, some of the time
 - Not very often
 - No, never
- $\ensuremath{\mathbb{I}}$ I have been anxious or worried for no good reason.
 - No not at all
 - Hardly ever
 - Yes, sometimes
 - Yes, very often
- $\ensuremath{\mathbb{I}}$ I have felt scared or panicky for no very good reason.
 - Yes, quite a lot

?

?

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge: The Hummingbird Study



. 0	Yes, sometimes			
. 0	No, not much			
. 0	No, not at all			
Things have been getting on top of me.				
0				
• ~	Yes, most of the time I haven't been able to cope at all			
• 0	Yes, sometimes I haven't been coping as well as usual			
. 0	No, most of the time I have coped quite well			
. 0	No, I have been coping as well as ever			
I have be	een so unhappy that I have had difficulty sleeping.			
• 0	Yes, most of the time			
. 0	Yes, sometimes			
. 0	Not very often			
. 0	No, not at all			
I have felt sad or miserable.				
0				
• ~	Yes, most of the time			
• 0	Yes, sometimes			
. 0	Not very often			
. 0	No, not at all			
I have been so unhappy that I have been crying.				

I have felt sad or miserable.

- Yes, most of the time
- Yes, sometimes
- Not very often
- No, not at all

I have been so unhappy that I have been crying.

- Yes, most of the time
- Yes, quite often



- Only occasionally
- No, never
- The thought of harming myself has occurred to me.
 - Yes, quite often
 - Sometimes
 - Hardly ever
 - Never

Appendix 3: data items

We will use standard definitions of disease and outcomes refined and validated in our previous studies to collect data including

- Standardized forms for: NEC/gut complications; sepsis; ROP grade and treatment at discharge;
 CLD at 36w; presence of IVH/PVL or PDA requiring treatment
- Day of first milk feed; receipt of buccal colostrum
- Time to full feeds sustained for 3 days; days of nil by mouth; age at first use of DHM, fortifier and formula milk
- Postnatal age at last breastmilk expression, first day of feeding from the breast, postnatal age at last received MOM, age at last breast feed (telephone report post-discharge)
- Maternal demographics: postcode/SES, age, parity, previous breastfeeding, previous breastfeeding for at least 3 months, smoking, major maternal disease e.g. diabetes etc.
- Validated questionnaire for breastfeeding self-efficacy (BSES)
- Validated questionnaire Edinburgh postnatal depression score (EPND)
- Costs associated with length of stay (days) for each category of care (intensive, high and low dependency) estimated using NHS HRGs
- Costs of DHM provided by Hearts Milk Bank includes transport, storage at site etc.



Appendix 4: Topic guide for interviews

Human Milk, Nutrition, Growth, Breastfeeding Rates at Discharge:

The Hummingbird Study

Parent Topic Guide for Interviews

Interviewer extends a special thanks to the mother for agreeing to take part in the research. Explain that the aims of the study are to seek the views and experiences about aspects of breastfeeding support and use of human donor milk. Reassure that it is OK for anyone else, including the father, to be present if the mother wishes. Make the point that she doesn't have to answer all questions.

Interviewer introduces herself and outlines the study

Explain use of the audio recorder – the interview is being audio recorded so I have an accurate account of what the participant has said and so that I don't have to take handwritten notes. Interviews will be anonymised when they are typed up prior to analysis (i.e. their names and any other information that could identify them are taken out.)

- Assure confidentiality.
- Ask whether they have any more questions about the study?
- Check they have signed the consent form and are happy
- Explain that the interview can be ended or postponed at any time.

Introduction

Can you tell me a little about how your baby is getting on at present?

Feelings and support before and after birth

- Did you think about breastfeeding before your baby was born?
- Have you breast fed before, or been to any antenatal classes on breastfeeding?
- Did having a premature baby change what you thought or felt?

Patient Information

- Did anyone speak to you about expressing breastmilk shortly after the birth?
- Do you think you were given enough information or support?
- Did you feel empowered to make an informed decision or did you feel pressurised?
- In what ways could the information or support you were given be improved?
 - explanations
 - information to read
 - o other?

Feelings and support whilst on the NICU

Hummingbird Protocol v1.1 | 01/12/2020 | IRAS 281071



- Do you think the staff were sensitive to your opinions and any challenges you had?
- What could staff have done to improve support for you?
- Did you feel supported by friends, partners and other family members?
- Looking back, how do you feel your experience of providing breastmilk was for this baby?
- What do you think about the use of human donor milk or formula milk?
- Would you have preferred your baby to receive donor milk for longer?
- If money (NHS costs) was not an issue, do you think other babies should be offered donor milk if the mum is struggling to breast feed? E.g. a term baby where the mother is unwell, or has a poor milk supply?

End of interview

I have reached the end of my questions. Is there anything you would like to add? How did you feel about the interview?

- Are there any questions you would like to ask me about the study?
- Thank them for giving up their time and supporting the study.
- Ask them if they still agree for the interview to be analysed.

Explain they can find a summary of the findings on the website www.neonatalresearch.net at the end of the study.